Editorial:                                PASSPORT IS NOT A RIGHT

Passport is a political document, granting it, is an administrative action of the government.  Citizens have a fundamental right to obtain passports from the state under Article 21 of the Constitution of India.  The freedom to travel is a globally recognized right under Article 12 of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (1979).  Besides, citizens even the subjects of the occupied territories are granted travel documents. In the Palestinian occupied territories, Palestinians get the travel documents to go abroad. They mostly get the Jordanian passports to travel. However, in the state of Jammu and Kashmir, the issuance of a passport is based on the discretion of the police and the different intelligence agencies.   Invariably, passports are not issued to political activists and even human rights defenders because the verification authorities from different intelligence agencies are not issuing the clearance certificate for the same. Statistics confirm that the number of passports issued in Jammu and Kashmir is the lowest in India (42 passports per day in Srinagar).   

 
Under the Passport Act of 1967, even if a criminal case has been filed and is pending against any citizen, s/he may obtain a passport after gaining permission from the concerned criminal court to travel abroad.  The High Courts have observed that it is the duty of the state to inform petitioners that they are entitled to passports, subject to the orders of criminal courts where the cases are pending.  When the state has not fulfilled its obligation and the application of passports are pending for one to two years, the High Courts have nullified such procedure and directed passport issuing authorities to issue the document.  Beside the passport, other travel documents necessary for the Islamic pilgrimage of the Hajj have also been denied.  In 2004, after issuance of the documents compulsory for travel to Saudi Arabia, around fifty persons were prevented by police officials from boarding the aircraft.  Only at the last stage, due to judicial intervention, the Hajj pilgrims were permitted to proceed for the pilgrimage.

 
Students, who in their efforts to gain admission into various educational institutions outside the country, have also been adversely affected by these policies.  Admission to prestigious academic institutions abroad is prerequisite upon obtaining visas from the receiving countries.  In one instance, a law graduate student attained the opportunity to pursue his LL.M at the Coventry University of London in February 2004.  Though he applied for passport in March 2002, the passport office did not grant clearance.  He pursued the matter further and was finally given a country-specific passport to the United Kingdom.  The travel restrictions placed upon his passport raised eyebrows at the UK embassy.  He approached the CID office to express his concerns with these restrictions, but they did not modify it.  Subsequently, officials of the British High commission refused issuance of the visa.  The aforementioned individual is now a practicing lawyer.  

The issue of granting passports selectively to different political activists, including separatist politicians, is currently being debated in the valley.  Some separatist politicians possess passports and attend international conferences in different countries from time to time, whereas others are not even permitted to hold public meetings within the valley.  Separatist politicians linked to various criminal cases have been permitted to exit the country.  Even some militants have managed to obtain passports, how we don’t know?  One can understand the political considerations associated with the distribution of passports, but withholding it to the human rights defenders exposing the government’s lies on human rights in Kashmir, that too by a country committed to democracy and the rule of law, exposes its double standards.  

Even undemocratic nations, such as Pakistan, have not withheld travel documents from human rights defenders or civil society activists, who are now frequent travelers to India where they are highlighting the sensitive issues of their country.  Mukhtar Mai, a rape victim turned agent of change, who has caused embarrassment to the government by highlighting the plight of Pakistani women, was not barred from traveling and receiving an award in a western country.  In contrast, the editor of this newsletter, who received the Ludovic Trarieux International Prize for Human Rights Defenders, applied for a passport in 2004 that has still not been approved.  Consequently, he is unable to attend the prize ceremony scheduled on the 13 October 2006.  Not withstanding Amnesty International’s petition to the special rapporteur of the UN Human Rights Defenders, and a petition to the European Observatory (constituted by the European Union), the Indian government has informally refused to issue the passport to the editor.   However, Major Avtar Singh of Indian army, the alleged murderer of a local human rights defender, has managed to flee to Canada.  

 
The issue at hand is how to respond to these discriminatory practices by the state in a collective manner. Even in the occupied territories subjects have rights. Indian leaders also used to go abroad during British India period. One of the options is that the individuals can approach the courts. But, everybody cannot afford the litigation. The courts take years and years to decide the cases, even the President, High Court Bar Association, who has been denied passport is pursuing his case in the court without any success so far. An initiative is needed by the activists and the non-activists alike, with the support of civil society organizations for a collective campaign with international organizations to pressurize the government of India for respecting the right of people of Kashmir particularly the human rights defenders to get the travel documents, thereby honoring the ICCPR covenant to which India is a signatory.

STUDENT AND ONE WOMAN KILLED 

On June 24,2006, a student and one woman were killed when troops of Central Reserve Police Force (CRPF) and Border Security Force (BSF) allegedly opened indiscriminate fire on them in separate shoot outs in Palhalan area of Pattan, 32 kilometers away in north of Kashmir, district Baramulla. 

The incident triggered a massive anti – India protests across the valley. The deceased were identified as Tariq Ahmed Sofi, 18, son of Ghulam Muhammad Sofi, resident of Sadrabal, Palhalan and Misra Begum, 30, wife of Ghulam Hassan Tantray, resident of Palhalan Chowk. The villagers claimed that both of them were innocent and were killed without any provocation. Tariq was allegedly killed by the gypsy car boarded armed personnel and when inhabitants of the village were protesting against the killing, the troops of the BSF allegedly opened fire on the protesters and killed Misra and injured many others. 

Ashiq Hussain Sofi, elder brother of slain Tariq told The Informative Missive, “ On the fateful day of June 24 at around 11:30am, my brother left for Srinagar to submit an application form for the post of a fireman. After leaving home, at Palhalan, he was waiting for the bus at the main road on the Srinagar-Baramulla highway. In the meantime, around three white colored gypsy cars stopped in front of my brother and he was boarded in one of the cars. After sometime, the gypsy cars again came to the area and threw Tariq from the moving car. The gypsy boarded personnel indiscriminately fired on Tariq, killing him on the spot”.


“People from all the nearby villages came to the spot. Thousands of people from Pattan area came out on the streets and raised slogans against the troops, state government and India. The protesters took Tariq’s dead body and kept it on the Srinagar-Baramulla highway. The protesters demanded for the stern action against the culprits”, told Ashiq.


Mushtaq Ahmad, a resident local and an eyewitness told, “While protesting, people rushed towards the nearby BSF camp. The furious villagers believed that the BSF knew who killed Tariq, as at the time of Tariq’ killing only the BSF troops were deployed on the Pattan highway and they knew that who killed Tariq. The villagers held a strong protest in front of the BSF post and were demanding for the name of the agency involved in the killing. BSF in retaliation caught some youth among the protesters and thrashed them viciously. The protesters resisted and entered into a scuffle with BSF troops. When some BSF cops were beating a youth callously, Misra, a local woman plunged over those cops in order to protect the boys. But one of the BSF troops belonging to the Sikh community started indiscriminate firing over the resisting protesters and wounded Misra and a local youth, Ajaz Ahmad Sofi, son of Ghulam Rasool Sofi severely. The SDPO (Sub-Divisional Police Officer) and SHO (Station House Officer) Pattan police station were watching the whole scene as mere spectators. However, after injuring the protesters, the BSF troops revealed a registration number of one of the gypsy cars involved in the killing of Tariq. The number reads as JKO2A/7521”.


 “Misra was hit by many bullets in her abdomen and Ajaz received a bullet in his leg. Both of them were rushed to the SKIMS hospital, Srinagar. Misra was severely injured and was in a critical condition. After going through a surgery of seven hours, she succumbed to her injuries. Some of the police cops deployed in the SKIMS demanded bribe in order to prepare Misra’s death certificate. Finally took the dead boy to our native village and buried it in our native graveyard”, complained Mushtaq, who is also the brother-in–law of deceased Misra.


Ghulam Hassan Tantray, a local resident told, “ Next day, the enraged villagers held a demonstration at the Palhalan highway and were demanding for the stern action against the culprits. Protesters went to the police station Pattan and told them to file a report against the troops who killed Misra and Tariq, but police answered that they have already filed a report in which they have stated that both the deceased were killed in an encounter between the troops and the militants, which was baseless and a cover up statement as both the SDPO and the SHO were present at the time of the incident. The protesters got furious, hurled stones at the police station and set ablaze the main gate of the police station”.


He further added, “ On June 26, our concerned MLA (Member Of Legislative Assembly) and MP (Member Parliament) visited our house and the MLA gave us a cheque of rupees one hundred thousand as an ex-gratia relief. Both the ministers assured us for the justice and told us that they would ask for the probe into the matter, but no action has been taken so far”.


Raja, sister-in-law of Misra said, “ Misra was the main breadwinner of the family, as my brother, her husband is bed ridden as he has some cardiac problem. Misra was working as a domestic servant to support her family. Misra’s three minor children, Masrat, 12, Aqib, 8 and Javaid, 6 always keep asking about their mother as they are too young to understand that there mother has left for the heavenly abode. Javaid often seeks his mother during night and tells that “where is my Mummy”. I always say say him that his mother is suffering from an ailment and is in the Srinagar Hospital. Whenever children ask for their mother, that moment always creates a miserable environment in our family “.
BOYS USED AS HUMAN SHIELDS

ARMY ASKS FATHER TO COMPROMISE

After losing their sons, both Ghulam Mohammad Dar and Mohammad Akbar Shah are perturbed about the safety of their family members since they have declined to follow the diktats of army personnel who wanted them to sign the forms in which it is written that the security forces personnel are not involved in the killing of their sons who were used as human shields during an encounter operation at Palhalan, Pattan, Baramulla on November 12, 2005.Both the fathers approached the office of the Public Commission on Human Rights and narrated their story.

 
"Some time back the army personnel came to my house and asked me to put signatures on a form being carried by them. I told them that first, I would see the details of the form and only then I would put my signatures. They asked me to go through the details of the forms, but without making any changes and this created suspicion in my mind", said Ghulam Mohammad Dar, father of slain Ejaz Ahmad Dar.

 
Ejaz, 18, along with his neighbour Shabir Ahmad Shah, 21, got killed while they were being used as human shields during an operation at Shah Mohalla, Palhalan-Pattan.

 
Ghulam Mohammad said that the army personnel are trying their level best to convince him and Mohammad Akbar to come out with the written statement that they did not kill both the boys. "I have already told them that I am not going to sign this form since the army personnel killed my son and Shabir. Now I feel that they might wipe out both the families without seeking answer from anybody", he added.

 
In the forms it has been written that the army personnel are not involved in the killing of these two boys and it also claims that both the boys were missing from their homes. Ghulam Mohammad Dar made some changes in the form and deleted the word not from the forms and then the same text was like this that the army personnel are involved in the killing of Shabir Ahmad Shah and Aijaz Ahmad Dar. He also added word not to the sentence where it had been written that the boys were missing from their homes.

 
Both Mohammad Akbar and Ghulam Mohammad opine that come what may, they would not sign the form since the army personnel are involved in the killing of the boys and telling a blatant lie in this regard would be just equivalent to betraying with the "sacrifices" of the boys.

 
"We have lost our assets and how can we go for a sell out when everything has been ruined. Our future has been turned into darkness and there is nobody to show us the light. In such a situation, how can one expect that we would pin our hopes on the support, which is false and based on blatant lies? We are not going to sign the forms and are ready to face the consequences", said both Dar and Shah.

 
Narrating the whole sequence of events the unfortunate incident occurred on November 12, 2005. "Early in the morning on November 12, 2005 the army personnel carried out search operations of our two houses and this process was carried over for three times. There are at least 15 houses separating our two houses and we grew suspicious about the plan of army personnel. As they were coming back on the third time, they got the message that the militants are hiding inside our two houses and on this they repeated the whole process", said Dar and Shah.

These two men said that on the fourth time, there was a sound of firing inside one of the houses and Shabir who was inside was killed. They added that Ejaz was injured in the firing of the security forces and the army personnel did not allow him to be shifted to the hospital thereby resulting in his death due to the excessive loss of blood. 

 
"We are a witness to the whole situation and the whole incident took place in front of us. How can any army officer come to us and ask us to put down signature on the form in which false information is written. They have themselves filled the forms and want us to just put the signatures. We are not concerned about our own safety, but we want that no harm should be done to our family members. That is the only worry which haunts us frequently", said Dar and Shah.

Ghulam Muhammad Dar further said,  “My younger son, Riyaz Ahmad was running a shop adjacent to his house. The army patrol visiting our village started harassing him. He suffers with a heart problem since the day his brother got killed. To avert further threat and harm, Riyaz closed his shop and now has started to work at some other place as a salesman. I only have two daughters and a son and I am very much worried about their future”.

Both the parents added that most of the villagers are illiterate and they hardly read the documents provided by the army. In many cases, such kinds of documents were signed from the victim families in pretext of the false offers of huge amounts of money. Luckily, we read the documents and made necessary corrections in them. “We will continue our struggle for the justice and won’t let the blood of our children squander”, asserted both the fathers.       

TWO PERSONS KILLED AS HUMAN SHIELDS

Army claims them as militants

On June 30, 2006, two boys were allegedly killed as human shields in an encounter between the militants and the army troops in a shopping complex at Nowpora, Bandipora, 65 kilometers from Srinagar city in the north of Kashmir. The deceased were identified as Manzoor Ahmad Dar, son of Ali Muhammad Dar, resident of Ward No.1, Plaan, Bandipora and the building owner, Abid Shah, 21, son of Saif-ud-Din Shah, resident of Papchan, Bandipora.

The army claimed that the slain boys were militants and got killed in the encounter, where as the villagers and the locals identified them as civilians and alleged that they were used as human shields by the army. 

This is the second incident of its kind in the area. Earlier, on February 7, 2005, Chittebandi village of the Bandipora area witnessed bloodshed, when five civilians were killed after they were dragged out of their homes and were used as human shields.

The reporter of The Informative Missive visited the area and talked to the victim families and eyewitnesses to the incident. 

Muhammad Sulaiman Shah, uncle of the deceased Abid said, “Abid was running a whole sale provision store in his own shopping complex namely Peer and Sons complex situated at Nowpora, Bandipora. On the ill-fated day of June 30, at around 9:45am, Army cordoned off the whole Nowpora town and started to search some of the houses and shops in the market. Abid and Manzoor Ahmad, who at that time were in their respective shops, were taken for accompanying the Army in the search operations. When the Army troops and BSF (Border Security Forces) started to search the shopping complex, they ordered both Abid and Manzoor to proceed into the building and were followed by the army’s Lt. Colonel and other soldiers. After sometime, an explosion took place inside the building. The troops deployed outside on the road started to throw mortar shells towards the building and also fired indiscriminately. Due to the shelling, the building caught fire and both Abid and Manzoor along with the army officer got killed, whereas, rest of the soldiers survived by jumping from the building”.

 Sulaiman further adds, “Actually, we were at our home when we heard that an encounter is going in our shopping mall, we called Abid on phone in order to ascertain his well being, but his cell phone was switched off and we were unaware about Abid’s detention by the Army. We thought that he would have gone to some safe place. After the encounter was over, we searched for Abid everywhere, but found nothing. We did not know that our misfortune and the army’s brutalities have ruined our dynasty by taking the life of Abid. We then rushed to the Police Station, Bandipora where all the charred bodies were taken. The dead bodies of both Abid and Manzoor were completely distorted and indistinctive. We then identified his dead body by identifying his teeth patterns. After identification of the dead bodies, the villagers took both the charred bodies to the respective native villages”.

Rayees Ahmad Shah, an eyewitness and a shopkeeper, running an electrical store in the same shopping mall said, “ We were in our shops, while the army cordoned off the whole area. All the shopkeepers were ordered to close the shops and were told to stand in line on the road. After that, the army selectively took out Abid and Manzoor and ordered them to accompany them in the search operation of the shopping complex. Before entering the building, Abid was told to light up the gas lamp for lighting purpose inside the building. The army personnel told Abid to carry the gas lamp and move ahead for entering into the building. Both Abid and Manzoor at the forefront went upstairs inside the building followed by the army officer and other soldiers. After going inside the building, one of the army personnel closed down the entrance shutter of the building. Ten minutes after their entry into the building, a heavy explosion occurred inside the shopping mall. On hearing the explosion, the army outside the building fired indiscriminately towards the building and also threw some mortar shells. The shelling set ablaze the building and some of the soldiers who were inside jumped down from the building to save themselves. Whereas, the army’s Lt. Colonel, Abid and Manzoor remained inside and by the mortar shelling, all of them were burnt to death”.

“When we heard that our shopping complex is on fire, we immediately called Fire Brigade in order to extinguish the fire. However, the army and the BSF did not allowed them to extinguish the fire. At least, after two hours, the fire services were allowed to move to the spot, however the building had turned to ashes till then. Nobody made any attempt to rescue the boys; even the SDPO (Sub Divisional Police Officer) Bandipora, Fareed Khan was watching the whole incident as a mute spectator. After taking out the dead bodies from the wreckage, the army sprayed some ammunition near the dead bodies in order to highlight that the persons killed in the encounter were militants”, adds Rayees. 

  The villagers started to demonstrate strongly, shouting anti-troops and anti-government slogans.  They also demanded for the justice and probe into the matter.

 While talking to The Informative Missive, Muhammad Sulaiman Shah, uncle of the deceased Abid complained, “Next day, we went to the Police Station, Bandipora to file a report against the killing of our children as human shields. However, police officials claimed that except the army officer, all those who were killed in the building were militants. The police has already lodged an FIR vide no. 141/06 dated 30-06-06. 307 RPC and 7/25 Acts. Then, we applied for the counter FIR, but police refused to file that report by alleging that Abid and Manzoor were militants”.

 The misery of the deceased Abid’s family was further compounded when Abid’s father was arrested in a crack down in the Papchan village. 

Wailing Saleema, 50, mother of the slain Abid expressed, “On July 12, at around 8am in the morning, the troops of 14-RR, 15-RR, 81-Brigadiers cordoned our village and ordered all the villagers to come out of their houses and gathered them in an open field in the village. The troops then started to search the houses. During the search operation, the forces harassed the locals and ransacked many houses. During the identification parade, the troops arrested my husband, Saif-u-din Shah and also arrested one of our relatives, Manzoor Ahmad Shah, son of Late Muhammad Yousuf, who is a head constable in the Fire and Emergency department. When we resisted their arrest, the army told us that they would be released soon after some questioning. Manzoor was released next day, but my husband was still in their captivity. The villagers got enraged and started to protest against the arrest of my husband. Next day, after the strong demonstration, army handed over my husband to the Police Station, Bandipora and filed a report against him, stating that ‘a Pika gun and hundred rounds of bullets were recovered from his possession’. This contention is totally baseless, my husband was arrested from the identification parade in front of hundreds of locals and not a single thing was recovered from his possession. Army arrested my husband as they do not want us to file a counter FIR regarding Abid’s and Manzoor’s killing”.

 Dilshada, daughter-in-law of Saifudin said,  “We are suffering as the ferocious troops first killed my innocent brother-in-law and then arrested my grief stricken father-in-law, but still we are resisting the army. Army often raids our house and is trying to arrest my second brother in law, Muhammad Maroof. Due to the fear of the army, no male members of our family or even our relatives dare to stay at our house for night. Because of the fear of the troops, I became unconscious several times during the various army raids”.

Assadullah Shah, one of the relatives of the Saifudin said,  “Saifudin’s family has been desolated by the oppression of the troops. He lost his son and property in the encounter. His arrest disintegrated his family and his family members are in incessant trauma for further risk to their life. Abid had taken some loan from the Bank for his business affair, which is still unpaid. The family is disturbed and nobody in the family wants to work because of the apprehension of further arrest or harassment from the Army. The family approached all the high ups in the administration including the Chief Minister and the Deputy Chief Minister of the state, but all in vain”.   

INNOCENT KASHMIRIS PUT TO DEATH IN GUJARAT

After their disappearance, two boys were allegedly killed in a fake encounter in Gujarat state of India. The deceased were identified as Muhammad Ayub Bhat (30) son of Abdul Aziz resident of Lore -Imam Sahib Shopian and 18-year-old Mudasir Ahmed Rather son of Ghulam Ahmed of Halow Pora, Shopian, Pulwama (about 60 kilometers from Srinagar in the south of Kashmir). According to the Gujarat police, on 17th March 2006, four suspected ultras of Harkat-ul-Mujahidin expected to be the foreign militants were killed in an encounter whereas two among the four persons killed were identified as Kashmiri locals.

Joint Commissioner of Police (crime), Gujarat P.P. Pande told, “ Police raided the Ganga Row House Colony, Gujarat after receiving intelligence inputs regarding suspected armed persons living in the area. The motive of the four accused appeared to be establishing a terror network in Gujarat and targeting VIPs and places of worship in the state”.


Residents of the Halowpora village while talking to The Informative Missive said, “Mudasir was pursuing an Islamic Studies course in Gujarat and in the year 2004 he was arrested by some unidentified agency from the very place and since then his whereabouts were not known “.

Abdul Aziz Bhat, father of the deceased Muhammad Ayub laments while talking to The Informative Missive, “Ayub left for Mumbai in the first week of December 2005. Ayub was dealing with fruit business; he went with his truck containing apples to Mumbai in the first week of December 2005. On 11th December 2005, he called on the telephone and said that tomorrow he will be leaving for Kashmir as he has received the payment of Rupees 80000 from the fruit merchant. Since that day he was untraceable”.

Aziz further adds, “ On 14th December 2005, I received a phone call from an STD number 09879066254 and I was asked about my son Ayub. I told the caller that Ayub is in Mumbai. The caller told me that he is calling from Qazigund, Kashmir whereas the number was a outside state one”.

  “On 23rd December 2005, there was a crackdown in our area and the security forces in the parade asked about the whereabouts of my son and in response I told them that he has gone to Mumbai regarding a business affair and would come back after a few days. After two more days, army raided our house and asked us about Ayub. I told them that Ayub is in Mumbai and within few days he will come back to Kashmir. In the first week of the January 2006, I received a phone call from 0194-2310243, a local number and the caller used abusive language and threatened me. On receiving this call, I approached Police Station Zainapora, Shopian and registered an FIR, vide number 36/05 against the threat call. I also wrote a letter to Deputy Inspector General Police, Pulwama, Deputy Commissioner (DC) and SP (Superintendent Police) Pulwama about the threat calls and the disappearance of my son. I also filed Ayub’s missing report in police station Zainapora, which was submitted to Sub-Divisional Police Officer on 2nd February, 2006”, told Aziz while holding Ayub’s photograph in his hand.


Zaiba (45), Ayub’s mother told, “We moved from every pillar to post in search of our son but came back with empty hands and agony as nothing divulged out. My son was arrested by some security agency in Ahmedabad and on the fateful day of 17th March, the Gujarat police killed him in a stage-managed gun battle. Rupees 80000 were also snatched from him”.


Zaiba adds, “Ayub was running a fruit business in his native village and was supporting his poor father. He was in no way associated with militancy. My son was in his prime youth and he had seen nothing. Our future hopes have been shattered. I just keep looking on the door of our house and wish that someday my son would come back”.


Ghulam Hassan Bhat, uncle of the deceased Ayub said, “On the 17th March evening, police personnel came to our house and told us that some persons were killed in Gujarat and the photographs of the killed persons are in the police station. They asked us for the identification of those photographs. When we moved to the police station, we found Ayub’s photo there. The photograph, which was in the police station, was taken from the identity card of Ayub.  Despite being from the lower class, we arranged air tickets and two of our relatives went to Ahmedabad (Gujarat) to obtain the dead body. On 20th March, the dead body was brought and buried in Kashmir”.

 
“We approached the Deputy Commissioner Islamabad (Anantnag) and demanded for the probe. He assured us that action would be taken against the perpetrators, but nothing been done so far. The police personnel were well aware about the arrest of Ayub. If police had no information regarding my nephew, then how were we asked about Ayub in the crackdown (cordon and search operation)? Then, why were we threatened? Despite having the numbers of the callers, who were making abusive and threatening calls, why didn’t the police take any action against them?” complains Ayub’s uncle. 

MINE BLAST HANDICAPS A PERSON
On June 19, 2006, Manzoor Hussain, 23, son of Nazir Hussain resident of Bugyaldra, Poonch was injured in a land mine explosion along the Line of Control (LoC) area in Poonch District. 
Reyasat Amin, a local resident of Bugyaldara approached the office of Public Commission on Human Rights and narrated the tragic story of Manzoor to the reporter of The Informative Missive.

Reyasat said, “On June 19, Manzoor went into the jungle to get the cattle back from the grazing fields. He in his search for the cattle reached the LoC area and accidentally stepped on a landmine. The landmine got exploded and severely injured him. His right foot blew into pieces. On hearing the sound of the explosion, the villagers rushed towards the spot and found him lying in an injured condition”.

 “Manzoor was battling for his life, the villagers rushed him to the District Hospital, Poonch for the first aid. During the treatment, the doctors amputated his badly damaged right foot”, told Reyasat..

Reyasat further adds, “Manzoor belongs to a very poor family and he was working as a domestic worker and also used to graze cattle. Sometimes, he used to work as a laborer in the farming fields and from that money; he was supporting his impoverished family. However, the physical disability caused by the landmine planted by the army shattered all the hopes of the family”.

“The residents of the village Bugyaldra are demanding that the landmines planted by the army in the surrounding areas should be removed as the landmines are a threat to our lives. All the time, the villagers remain in fear that their children may venture out in the landmine planted area”, claimed Reyasat.

FAMILY’S HOPE REKINDLED FOR THE RETURN OF THE DISAPPEARED 


Nazir Ahmad Mir, 33, resident of Zugyar, Baramulla was arrested from his house by the army in the year 1990 and since then his whereabouts were not known till recently, when the family after 16 long years came to know that there disappeared one is alive and is lodged in a jail. He was working in the Power Development Department as a lineman in Zugyar.

Atiqa, 33, wife of Nazir and her father Abdul Ahad visited different security forces quarters, central jails, and Special Operations Group (SOG) camps. They also visited central jails in Jammu and Kathua but nothing divulged out. The father and daughter also moved outside state like Tihar jail in New Delhi to ascertain the whereabouts of Nazir, but all in vain.


After the passage of 7 years, the government sanctioned an ex-gratia of Rupees 1 lac and provided compassionate employment in favour of his son. The family was residing below the poverty line, as after the arrest of Nazir, Atiqa’s in-laws disowned her. She then started to reside with her father at her maternal home with two sons and two daughters. The elder son was appointed in the electrical department on the compassionate employment case. In the year 2001, Abdul Ahad, father of Atiqa breathed his last.

On June 19, 2006, a girl residing in Fateh garh, Baramulla met Atiqa and told her that she had gone to meet her brother, who is detained under Public Safety Act in Udhampur jail was brought to Baramulla court for his case proceedings. The girl told Atiqa, that her brother told me that Nazir, my husband is in Udhampur jail and his tongue is cut. The family got overjoyed when they came to know about the whereabouts of Nazir.Atiqa approached the SHO (Station House Officer) Sheeri, Baramulla and told him that Nazir is alive and is lodged in Udhampur jail. SHO told her to provide a photograph copy of her husband so that they could find him. 

Atiqa and her other relatives went to Udhampur Jail to determine the whereabouts of disappeared Nazir.


Atiqa had given birth to a girl child after a few months of Nazir’s disappearance and she is very restless to see her father.    

 
The news about Nazir’s survival has regenerated the hopes of his family especially his children.     
THREE MILITANTS CLAIMED TO BE KILLED IN NAGPUR

FAKE ENCOUNTER:  PUCL REPORT
NAGPUR, June 1: According to the Nagpur police, a major attempt to attack the RSS headquarters was foiled when three heavily-armed suspected militants were shot dead in an ‘encounter’ with the police while trying to enter the heavily-guarded sprawling premises in the wee hours on June 1. 

 
Police suspects the militants belong to Pakistan-based Lashkar-e-Toiba and they were dressed as Police Sub-Inspectors traveling in a white ambassador car with a red beacon light tried to pass through the barricade but were challenged by policemen deployed there. 

Police claimed that three AK-56 rifles, huge quantity of RDX and 12 hand grenades were recovered from the slain militants after the encounter that took place around 4 am about 100 meters away from the headquarters. The militants were in the age group of 20-22 years. 

Giving details of the encounter, City Police Commissioner S P S Yadav told that a police team gave chase to their vehicle after they broke the first barrier about 200 meters from the headquarters. 

When challenged by the police, they opened fire from their AK-56 rifles, he said, adding the trio was killed in retaliatory firing. 

 
Yadav said two police officers were injured in the encounter, which lasted for about five minutes. The condition of one of the injured was stated to be serious. 

 The three terrorists belonged to "Islamic terrorist organisations" and their motive could have been to enter any building in the complex and create "a hostage-like situation", the Police Commissioner said. 

Though the police have not yet established their links with any militant organization, the trio belonged to Islamic terrorists outfits and had enough explosives and ammunitions to carry out their task for a longer duration, he said. 

FACT FINDING REPORT ON THE ATTACK ON RSS HEADQUARTERS

Over the last few years, Indian forces have conducted different fake encounters across the various parts of India. A Delhi based group namely Peoples Union for Democratic Rights have published reports on fake encounters in the past and now People’s Union for Civil Liberties, with other human rights organizations has come up with another report.

Fact Finding Report on the June 01, 2006 Attack on RSS Head Quarters
Constituent Member Organizations:

People's Union for Civil Liberties, Nagpur

Committee for Protection of Democratic Rights, Mumbai

Dharm Nirpeksh Nagrik Munch, Nagpur

Andra Pradesh Civil Liberties Committee, Hyderabad

Indian Association of People's Lawyers

Bahujan Sangarsh Samity

 


Introduction: The nation awoke on June 01, 2006 hearing the shocking news of an attempted attack on the RSS headquarters building. It was a respite that the news of police foiling the attempt too came along. 

  
The news of attempted attack on the Head Quarters of the RSS reportedly by 'Fidayeen', Pak based terrorist group, sent a spine chilling fear in the minds of millions of peace loving people in the country. We all know very well, the potential of such a happening to ignite a trail of tragic clashes among the communities. The peace loving masses heaved a sigh of relief as the leaders of every community promptly condemned the heinous act and appealed to the masses to maintain peace, and peace did prevail. 

  
In the next twenty-four hours quite a lot of information, almost all the information pertain to the attackers had been published obviously supplied by the police department to the media. The narrative of the whole encounter as reported on June 02, 2006, instead of clearing the mystery of the attackers, unfortunately confounded the citizens all the more. The reports were conflicting and leaving innumerable questions on ground zero situation unanswered.  

  
The foiled attempt and the appreciable tranquility maintained by the masses were a great relief. However the deadly weapon and ammunition with which the 'fidayeen' (as told by the Commissioner of Police) appeared, and the ease with which the police claim to have liquidated them, suggested that the Police team had a 'cake walk' over the deadly terrorists.  

  
The very next day, a section of the media aired their doubt over the whole happening (as reported by the Police Commissioner), most of them quoting wide sections of the national community, including senior leaders.  

  
The peace loving social activists and campaigners for communal harmony based in Nagpur were at first relieved by the success of the police over terrorist. However the confounding report appeared in the media and the doubts aired by masses and leaders prompted them to read between the lines. Particularly, the 'Islamic' terrorist attempting to attack RSS Head Quarters has a larger implication. It has the potential to push the nation into a communal strife. Such a thing should not be allowed to happen in any manner, orchestrated by any group. The confounding report of the 'encounter' therefore requires an honest study.  

  
The above stated social organizations hence constituted a Fact Finding Team comprised of the above-mentioned activists. Mr. B G Kolse Patil, retired Judge of Mumbai High Court and Convened by Dr. Suresh Khairnar, a renowned social thinker, head the team. 

  
The team visited the site of the encounter; spoke to the people residing in the vicinity. The team also visited the RSS Head Quarters and met Mr. Shirish Wate, the HQ in charge. The team went to Government Medical College to meet the Doctors who carried out the postmortem. Dr. Dhavane, who was present gave elementary information and declined to give any detail. The team spoke to Dr. Vibhawari Dani, Dean, Government Medical Hospital and College. The Dean also declined to talk over the postmortem report. It was a classified document, she said. The team repeatedly sought an appointment with the Commissioner of Police. The CP too declined to meet the team. On the contrary the CP asked the respectable members their credentials, who funded the team, what international connection does the team have and similar questions, with apparent intention to intimidate the team from their earnest effort to help the society to know the truth. 

 Incident: as reported by Mr. S P S Yadav, the Commissioner of Police, Nagpur 

 
 The Special squad of the City police who were on high alert following specific input from intelligence agency spotted a white Ambassador car moving in a suspicious manner in Lakdi Pul in Mahal area and started tailing it. Two cars, a Tata Sumo and a Qualis were used in the operation. The tailing cars were unmarked and all police personal in it were wearing plain clothes. 

  
When the ambassador car with red beacon atop moved towards RSS Head Quarters, one for the constables in the Tata Sumo casually asked the young occupants about their intentions. Rattled by the enquiry the militants opened fire on the police vehicle even as they tried to get away. In the process they dashed into the barricade near the eastern side of the RSS HQ. The alert cops led by PSI Rajendra Tiwari, PSI Arvind Saraf and PSI JA More replied to the Gunfire. It was their bulletproof jackets that saved police personnel. The terrorists also threw a hand grenade on the police party. But it failed to explode. They threw the grenade without pulling out the pin. 

  
The gun battle lasted about 20 minutes in which the militants fired 76 rounds while the cops retaliated with 63 rounds. The terrorists had three AK-M automatic weapons, 12 hand grenades and 5.6 Kgs of highly explosive materials with them. They also had three spare magazines for their firearms each carrying 30 rounds. They had hundred and twenty rounds each, said Mr. S P S Yaday  

  
Mr. Yadav also reported to have said, looking at their preparation and determination to storm RSS HQ at any cost despite heavy police deployment, indicates that it was a 'fidayeen' attack. Refusing to divulge the exact identity of the three militants, who were in the age group of 20-22 years, Mr. Yadav described them as 'Islamic militants.' At this point of time, he added, it is too premature to associate them with any outfit. 
The Media Report 

As per the details received from the police a white Ambassador car MH 20-8979 with a red beacon and three persons on board dressed as police sub-inspectors, was first spotted by the patrolling police party at the central avenue some time before the incident. The car was heading towards Badkas Chowk. As it emerged form Chitaroli, two police vehicles, a Tata Sumo carrying two PSI and five constables and a Toyoto Qualis with 5 PSI got suspicious about the car. The police vehicles hastened the chase of the suspicious ambassador car. At Badkas chowk the ambassador car took a left turn towards Junta chowk and again turned right towards the Sangh building from the Lakdipul side. Presuming the car might have gone towards Ayachit mandir the police stopped the chase for a while. However when the police jeep came back to the same place during their routine patrol, they noticed the same car in a small alley between Lakdipul and Gajanand Mandir towards the eastern gate of the RSS Head Quarters. The Police vans then closed in on the ambassador car. However, without paying heed to the police patrol the car tried to force its way through the temporary barricade erected 50 meters before the main entrance of the RSS HQ. 

  
At this juncture the PSI Tiwari intercepted the ambassador car and enquired as to where it was heading. Instantly thereafter the two ultras who were seated on the rear seats came out of the car with a grenade in their left hand and AK56 rifle in the right hand. One of them lobbed the grenade at the police, but since the pin was not fully removed it failed to explode. Seeing this the ultras opened indiscriminate fire at the police party. In the melee PSI Saraf who just alighted from the police vehicle got hit at his abdomen. However, since he was wearing a bulletproof west the bullet did not pierce his body. 

  
Soon after this police force and the ultras started exchanging fire in which two of the three militants were killed on the spot. The driver of the car then tried to flee towards the Bhauji Daftari School. However he could not escape the bullets from the police and he too was killed on the spot. The entire shoot out went on for just around 15 minutes between 4.00 and 4.15 AM. The police then informed the control room and the Commissioner of Police about the shoot out. The senior police officers immediately reached the spot and shifted at the three ultras to the government medical college where they were declared brought dead. The members of Dautkani family along with other neighbors woke up at the sound of the firing and one of his family members opened the door of their house to peep outside. However alert cops told the family members to shut the door and remain inside the house only. It was to prevent the terrorist from taking shelter in the Dautkani house and taking them as hostages. The operation was carried out by the city police successfully without any loss of life other than that of the militants. 

  
The press reported on the 2nd June that, all the three terrorists are said to be Pak nationals. Two of them hailed from Lahore and the third from Gujrangwala. The police had seized from the place a dairy, which contained email address in Urdu, a few phone numbers of Lahore and Gujrangwala,

 Rs. 45,000 and maps of the city were recovered from the terrorist. The names of three terrorists are said to be Afsal Ahmed Bhat, Bailal Ahmed Bhat and Mohammed Usman Habib.  

  
Loksatta (Indian Express Group) Nagpur, Marathi edition, dated June 03 2006 carried an article containing the following detail. 'Normally the attacks by the terrorists are preplanned meticulously and they seldom fail in their attempt. This being the public opinion, the recent futile attempt by the terrorist on RSS building and the success gained by the police in thwarting the attempt creates suspicion in public mind as well as among RSS people and their rivals. Though normally terrorists claim the responsibility of the attack, no terrorist group has claimed any responsibility to this attempt. Therefore the question arises, whether they were hardcore Islamic terrorist or just any other new comers. According to police statement, threat of attack on RSS head quarters loomed large for the last one year and there was security cordon around the building. Yet the attackers seemed to have no idea of any of them, neither did they seem to know the roads leading to RSS building. And no map of the building and its surrounding could be found with them. During the whole encounter with the police the terrorists got only one chance to lob a grenade and that too did not explode. Not a single policeman was injured by the bullets of the attackers, put a question mark on the ability of the terrorists. The attackers could bring a car load of guns and bullets, hand grenades, powerful explosives like RDX from places thousands of kilometers away without being detected or checked by any police or civic authorities, is a matter of surprise even in the RSS circle. The RSS which usually take such attack on them seriously and go for nationwide protest, unusually kept extraordinary silence and the morning Shaka at the Head Quarters went on with more people attending it. It was a surprise even among the cadres of RSS. This also has created among their functionaries doubt over the bona fide of the attackers. However, they speak in a low voice. 

  
Mahanayak, a Marathi newspaper from Mumbai, published title page news from its special correspondent from Nagpur, with the caption: "Mahanayak's Special Story on the Attack on RSS Head Quarters." The news goes like this: There is a talk among the Nagpur police that, of the 11 police who conducted the encounter, 6 police did not even know how to handle a carbine. Some of them were under demotion on account of departmental disciplinary action, and they were given this 'chance' to prove their 'worthiness.' Sources close to the police circle say, none of the eleven cops had special Commando training. The authorities punished two of them, for they extorted from a 'gutka' merchant a huge amount (Rs 3.5 lakhs) five months ago, in the Panchpoli police station area. At the orders of the CP they were shifted to another 'punishment' section. Police inner circle is surprised at the composition of the squad for most of them do not know to handle guns properly. The reporter gives details of much indiscipline of the eleven police personnel and wonders how and on what basis they were selected for Special Squad to handle such an important assignment in the RSS HQ.  

Observations
1. When the police had prior information about possible attack on RSS Head Quarters and the police were prepared, as stated by the Commissioner of Police (CP), to handle possible attack, why did they allow the attackers to go close to the RSS HQ? Why did the Police not stop them at first sight? 

  2. We hear from the residents, that the police had a kind of rehearsal to the 'encounter' few days back on the same spot. Police even fired on air on the occasion, they claim. And when the actual encounter took place, these residents said, they first thought that it was yet another demonstration. Why did the police take a demo few days ago? 

 3. The CP has said, "when the ambassador car with red beacon atop moved towards RSS HQ, one of the constables in the Tata Sumo casually asked the young occupants about their intentions. Rattled by the inquiry the militants opened fire on the police vehicle even as they tried to get away." For the constable to ask casually either he must have brought his car (the police vehicle) side by side to the terrorist vehicle or he (the constable) came by foot close to terrorist vehicle (and asked them). In either case the constable must have been exposed to the terrorist attack at close quarter. How did the constable escape unhurt? The narration of the incident doesn't have any detail to clarify this. 

4. There is no eyewitness to the whole happening. The encounter took place according to the police at 4.15 AM. The bodies of the assailants were removed even before the press reporters (who were the first people other than the Police), reached the spot, close to 5.00 AM. Why this hurry? 

5. Day one media report says, Deputy Commissioner Mr. Prabhat Kumar was in the patrolling team and he smelled foul and started tailing it in their unmarked blue Tata Sumo. Why did the CP not bring him (Mr P Kumar) in his (CP) narration of the encounter? Why did CP hide the DCP?  

6. Another report says that the patrolling police that tailed the ambassador at one point "presumed the car might have gone towards Ayachit mandir the police stopped the chase for a while. However when the police jeep came back to the same place during their routine patrol, they noticed the same car in a small alley between Lakdipul and Gajanand Mandir towards the eastern gate of the RSS Head Quarters. As the point where the police missed the ambassador car and the place where they saw them again are the same small alley, do the police mean to say that the attackers were waiting over there until then? 

7. It is said that the attackers' car tried to force its way through the barricade. The said barricade was installed a couple of weeks before June 01 2006, in the aftermath of weapon seizure from antisocial elements in the State. When the attackers came where were the sentries posted at the barricade? They must have been the first one to stop the terrorists or get attacked by the terrorists. Where were they? 

8. The exchange of fire took place for twenty minutes, it was reported. Can anyone explain how the police disabled the terrorists from using the dozen hand grenades and the 360 rounds of bullets?  

9. That the terrorists had 12 hand grenade, 360 rounds of bullets, 5.6 Kgs of highly explosive material which was later stated to be RDX, and they battled for twenty minutes 'hopelessly' not using any of them, is a narration that fails to convince common sense.  

10. It was reported that the police recovered from the terrorists' vehicle a sealed case containing 12 hand grenades. The terrorists coming on a deadly mission carrying their munitions in sealed cases does not comply the logic of terrorist attack. They did not even open them when they were fighting for 20 minutes in a losing battle makes the narration all the more unconvincing.  

11. That the terrorists, reported to be 'fidayeen' who chose to travel on white ambassador car with red beacon atop, not knowing what is the official protocol but chose to wear PSI dress, does not comply with the statement of the CP that the terrorists were a trained fidayeen. 

12. The reported information that the police recovered wet underwear and soaked bathing soap from the white ambassador car suggests that they could not have been 'terrorists' on a mission involving their very life.  

13. The police declared them as 'Islamic' terrorist and Pak based 'fidayeen'. The stated seizure of a diary containing all their names and their own telephone numbers sounds farce. Usually we do not write our own telephone numbers in our dairy. Terrorists of deadly mission carrying a dairy with their own identities when they were on an attack do not appeal common sense.  

14. Even if the police had found a dairy belonging to the attackers, how did they decipher the code names and codified messages in so short a time that in less than 10 hours the CP could reveal their identity as 'Islamic' terrorist and 'fidayeen'? (The history of terrorist attack tells clearly that the terrorist do not carry written documents. If they have to write any they choose to write in codes and false names.)  

15. What authentication did the police possess to finally declare them as Muslim and bury them according to Islamic rituals? What was the hurry to bury the dead bodies of the terrorists without establishing their identity? 

16. Few holes on the walls (opposite to Bharat Mahila Vidyalay) are, said by the CID official present at the site, as bullet marks. Two of the six marks found to be marks of bullets fired from right across, at 90 degree. One bullet mark, as marked by the police on the Bharat Mahila Vidyalay wall too clearly indicates that the bullet was fired at 90 degree. Were the police and their vehicle come side by side the terrorists? It was amusing, that the police officer present at the time of the team's visit to the spot, told that bullet fired by police present down the lane, from behind the terrorist vehicle possibly took an aerial curve and hit the wall at 90 degree. 

17. There is hardly any mark of terrorist bullets on the other side, except on Police vehicle.  

18. The blue Tata Sumo vehicle that was tailing behind the terrorist vehicle had six bullet marks. Two of them at least apparently pistol bullet marks. The police report did not mention terrorists having used pistols. How did pistol bullet mark appear on the police vehicle?  

19. The terrorists were reported to have fired from AK-M automatic guns. The bullet marks on the blue Tata Sumo of the police bear bullet marks that are all single shot marks. There is no series of bullet marks (which is expected of if the opponent was using an automatic gun) that raises the doubt over nature of exchange of fire. 

20. One bullet hole was found (in the police blue Tata Sumo vehicle) on the right side front door from inside. The point of hit was almost at the hip of the driver. Had the driver been on his seat he must have been hit. There was no report. It is clear that the driver was not in the seat at the time of firing. We found bullet marks on the same police vehicle hit from three angles on the left side of the vehicle. Three bullets were 45 degree from behind, two bullets 90 degree on the left and one bullet130 degree further that hit just below the front windshield. 

 
The question is, if the vehicle is not on the move during the attack, (as the bullet did not hit the driver), then how did the bullet mark appear from three angles? This question assumes significance as it was not possible for the terrorists to move to such wide range and fire from all three angles, for, they were caught in their vehicle that was trapped in a narrow alley and they were immobilized. 

21. Mr. S P S Yadav, Commissioner of Police is reported to have said, "Looking at their preparation and determination to storm RSS HQ at any cost despite heavy police deployment, indicate that it was a 'fidayeen' attack." This conclusion of the CP amounts to be hasty in his decision; or the terrorists were in his hand prior to the encounter, for him to know about them in detail. 

22. On the site of the encounter was parked a white Maruti Omni car at the premises of Mr. Jopat, the compound wall being fenced by barbed wire. As the house is the first one in the lane (in front of which raised the barricade) and the attackers are in side the lane, if the police wanted to target the attackers, they should have gone some where behind this Maruti Omni car. When there was over 140rounds of fire, there is not a single bullet mark on the vehicle. This creates strong doubts over the nature of reported encounter. 

Proposal: 

 
The above raised scores of doubts arise in the mind of every citizen who looks at the whole happening without any bias. The team wanted simple clarifications for these doubts, from the Commissioner of police, Nagpur and approached him continuously for five days. That the CP persistently declined to meet the team and answer these simple strait queries, reveal his unwillingness / inability to face these fair queries. It also suggests that he chose to hide certain facts from the masses.  

 
All these confounding happenings lead the team to question the veracity of the Commissioner of Police's narration of the encounter. The 'Cock and Bull' story of the encounter thus compels the team to infer that the encounter appears to be fake and requires, at the interest of the nation society, a fair probing. The team therefore, calls upon the Central government to appoint a Judicial Enquiry Committee headed by retired Judge of the Supreme Court and probe the whole episode. 
TROOPS FIRE IN KUPWARA; 1 DEAD

CLASHES OVER MOSQUE SACRILEGE

ZIRHAMA (KUPWARA), June 10: Many thousand people staged angry demonstrations and attacked an army camp with stones against the alleged desecration of a mosque by troops in Zirhama, Kupwara. One person was killed and scores wounded when troops opened fire on the protesters.   The situation in the frontier district remained tense with reports of protests from many places in Kupwara. 

 The district authorities have registered an FIR against the trooper’s accused of the desecration. On Friday evening, troopers of 17 Dogra Regiment barged into the mosque allegedly wearing shoes when Nimazis (people who pray in the mosque) were coming out of the mosque after offering Isha (dusk) prayers.

At that time, three persons including the Imam were present in the mosque when it was cordoned.

 One of them, Rustum Sheikh, a sixty-year -old witness said the troopers thrashed him and the Imam. He claimed that the troopers didn’t remove their shoes while entering the mosque. “They didn’t bother to uphold the sanctity of the mosque and moved inside the mosque wearing shoes,” he said. Locals said that the troops ransacked interiors of the mosque.

The Dogra Regiment camp is barely 500 meters away from the mosque. 

On Saturday morning, the news about the desecration of the mosque spread like wildfire in the frontier district. People most of them students came out of their educational institutions and took to streets voicing pro-freedom and pro-Islamic slogans. 

Central market Kupwara witnessed a major gathering with nearly 10 thousand students assembling at the spot. They pelted stones on the nearby bunker of 41 RR at the bus stand. 

In the meantime, senior police and district authorities reached the spot to pacify the protesters. 

However, the youth boarded buses and rushed to Zirhama village. 

The protesters started pelting stones on the camp. “You can kill us but we won’t tolerate anything against our religion”, the protesters kept shouting. 

In the meantime, police swung to action and fired teargas canisters to disperse them. 

After a few minutes of lull, the protests started again and with more resistance. While most of the protesters pelted stones on the camp, some of them dared to enter the premises and ransacked two vehicles, snapped the telephone lines and ransacked an ammunition depot. 

Troopers reciprocated stones with stones. The ding-dong battle between the two groups continued for nearly two-and-a-half hours. 

After this the situation took the worst turn as police and troopers fired hundreds of rounds in air and many on the protesters. The firing continued for 15 minutes with people running helter-skelter. 

As firing stopped people came out to find that one of them was lying dead in a pool of blood. The person whose identity couldn’t be ascertained had received several bullets on his head. The deceased was later identified as Muhammad Ishaq Baig, 25, son of Ghulam Qadir. He was a labourer who had recently married. 

Four troopers, 15 students, five cops of state police were hurt in the daylong clashes. Waseem Bashir, an eyewitness said the protesters had decided not to pelt stones. “But suddenly, army personnel came and started beating us with gun butts,” he said. 

Bashir had received head injuries and has been admitted in Kupwara Hospital. Bashir Ahmad Khan, a student of Higher Secondary said Army personnel had taken iron rods and beat the protesters with them. He said he was pounced upon by troops and was severely beaten. He too has been hospitalized. 

AUTHORITIES SPEAK 
Inspector General of Police SM Sahai said eight cops were hurt in the clashes with the mob. He said as the situation turned tense, army opened fire wounding six persons one of whom as per the IGP succumbed at hospital. 

However, the IGP refuted that any desecration had occurred at the mosque. 

 He termed it as sheer rumor. District Development Commissioner, Kupwara, Abdul Majeed Khanday said he has ordered FIR against the army accused of the desecration of the mosque. He also claimed to have shot an inquiry against troops over the firing on the protesters. 

FIRST HUMAN RIGHTS DEFENDERS FORUM IN SOUTH ASIA
FORUM-ASIA and Informal Sector Service Centre (INSEC), Kathmandu jointly organized first Human Rights Defenders Forum in South Asia (HRDF-SA) in Nepal from 6th to 8th June 2006. The meeting provided a timely opportunity for Human Rights Defenders (HRDs) in South Asia to share their experiences, struggles and to strengthen their solidarity with victims as well as people’s movements in the region in the context of rapidly unfolding political transformation for democracy and peace in Nepal and in the face of various challenges in other countries in South Asia.

More than 50 participants from Bangladesh, Bhutan, Cambodia, India, Kashmir, Maldives, Nepal, Pakistan, Sri Lanka and Tibet gathered together in Dhulikhel, Nepal to critically reflect on the role of human rights defenders and people’s movement under the theme “Promoting Asian Solidarity for Peace and Democracy: Strengthening the Role of Human Rights Defenders (HRDs) in South Asia”. 

Mohammad Asif, a member of Jammu and Kashmir Coalition of Civil Society (JKCCS) represented Kashmir in the meeting.

 During the country representations of the various HRDs working in conflict areas, Kashmir was included with India and the Indian activists avoided mentioning Kashmir as well as the northeast regions of India in their presentations. 

Demanding the space for the representation of Kashmir, Asif spoke about the human rights situation in Kashmir. The moderator, at first stopped Asif from speaking and asked the organizers whether Asif should be allowed to speak; the organizers allowed Asif to express his views. Asif said, “Any South Asian meeting on human rights and peace, without the mention of Kashmir is incomplete. Kashmir is the bone of contention between the two nuclear powers India and Pakistan. And if peace has to prevail over the South Asian region, then the restoration of the rights of the people of Kashmir has to be ensured. Kashmir is the highest militarized zones of the world; with more than 5,00,000 Indian troops controlling or in clearer terms suppressing a population which is far less than Iraq, area wise also Kashmir is smaller than Iraq. In Iraq there are approximately 1,70,000 occupational forces”.

While discussing the role of the state in protecting the human rights, Asif said, “the State Human Rights Commission (SHRC) is a recommendatory body. The recommendations made by the SHRC are not being implemented. Hundreds of such recommendations for payment of ex-gratia relief are pending before the government since 1997. Lot of families have approached the State High court for the implementation of the recommendations made by the SHRC”.

While highlighting the problems confronted by the human rights activists in Kashmir Asif said, “HRDs working in Kashmir are being made inaccessible to the rest of the world. Passports are being denied to them, their phones are tapped and their emails are monitored. Several HRDs have been eliminated over the years like Advocate Jalil Andrabi, Aasia Jeelani and Dr. Ashai, H.W. Wanchoo etc. In early 90s, there were many human rights organizations working in Kashmir and now JKCCS is regularly documenting and disseminating the human rights violations on monthly basis”. 

After the meeting, few people belonging to a particular Indian NGO complained to the organizers that they had an anti –India agenda by letting Asif speak who did not identify himself with the Indian state. 

In the meeting, the special guest Ms. Melinda Simon, Assistant to UN Special Representative on Human Rights Defenders was also grilled by the representatives of the various countries regarding the role of UN Special Representative. There is complete lack of transparency between the UN and HRDs working in different countries. The HRDs have made several human rights related communications to the UN Special Representative, however what happened to the communications on their delivery to the Special Representative remains a mystery. Even Melinda agreed that the governments of various countries don’t take the recommendations of the Special Representative seriously and a lot is to be done in strengthening the role of UN Special Representative. Several recommendations were passed in the meeting that if properly implemented will promote Asian solidarity for peace and democracy and strengthen the role of Human Rights Defenders in South Asia.

A REPORT BY SWISS PEACE FOUNDATION
Switzerland based Non Governmental Organization (NGO) Swiss Peace Foundation under its FAST, International Early Warning Program has came out with its Semi– annual Risk Assessment report on Kashmir from December 2005 to May 2006. FAST International aims at enhancing political decision makers and their offices ability to identify critical developments in a timely manner so that coherent political strategies can be formulated to either prevent or limit destructive effects of violent conflict or identify windows of opportunity for peace building. Here are some of the excerpts from the report:

 
The upcoming summer season will provide favorable conditions for Kashmiris on both sides of the Line of Control (LoC) to join the armed struggle on the Indian side, while the adherence of the Indian government to its attitude towards Pakistan’s proposed Kashmir solution is most probably going to aggravate tensions.

 It becomes quite evident that the armed conflict, which is by now going on for more than fifteen years, is neither going to be solved by military means nor is it likely to vanish into the thin air. Rather, it has the capacity to continue or even escalate and shed the blood of hundreds of more people on either side of the divide. Given a real interest in peace and stability, it there fore would be of utmost importance to start negotiations and search for viable political solutions. The response of the Kashmiris, including the militants, to the demilitarization and even the self – rule proposal is far from the negative. Delhi should recognize this and start negotiations without preconditions such as “troops can be reduced after an end of violence”. It seems also to be important to include the militants into the negotiations either at the forthcoming Round Table Conference (RTC) or in separate talks. Even the previous Chief Minister of Kashmir, Mufti Sayid, has been demanding this lately. The Mirwaiz Umar Farooq, in recognition of the situation, has been highlighting that in spite of all talks and some cosmetic measures so far the daily situation on the ground has not improved for the Kashmiri people. Hence, without visible progress in the peace process the situation is likely to deteriorate further. 

 
The increase in violence and the refusal of Kashmir’s major actors to participate in the negotiations point to serious deficiencies in the peace process as pursued by the Indian government. If any progress is going to be made all sides have to come beyond “stared positions”. This is what President Musharraf has been reiterating and what Pakistan has been observing in its proposals: There is no talk anymore about plebiscites or about implementations of the UN resolutions. The Indian side will have to follow suit if progress is to be achieved and escalation of violence is to be prevented.

While the American pressure on both India and Pakistan to solve the Kashmir conflict is still there, the chances to make some impression on India are rather meek after the latest visit of the American president to both India and Pakistan. During the visit Kashmir was hardly ever mentioned and no new3 initiative to solve the problem was launched.

A more active role is taken by the Organization of Islamic Countries (OIC). With the appointment of a special envoy to Kashmir, the OIC expresses its growing concern over the on going conflict. The organization has repeatedly condemned India’s intransigence in the peace process and made a Kashmir solution the precondition for India’s desired membership in its ranks.

For the time being, the international dimension of the Kashmir conflict seems to be confined to the subcontinent. Progress can only be made by the cooperating parties and not against their will. While some improvement has been achieved in this context, the direction of further developments will now depend on the attitude of India.

TROOPS PROMOTE ALCOHOLISM IN SOUTH KASHMIR: ACTION AID

SRINAGAR, June 26: A study conducted by an international NGO, Action Aid International on drug abuse in Islamabad (Anantnag) has revealed that the troops promote alcoholism in the southern district. 

 
“Like other parts of Kashmir, district Anantnag/Islamabad also has numerous camps of various security agencies. Apart from their normal counterinsurgency role, many Army camps are found to help the locals to have a free access to alcohol, which otherwise is not easy within the regular socio-cultural setting of Kashmir,” says the study released on “International Day of Drug Abuse”. 

“For main Islamabad town and close-by areas, Qaimoh, Bijbehara,” it says, “the camps which are the main source of supply include Army camp Khanmoh and SICOP camp.” 
The army personnel involved in this trade hold no bar on the age as well. “They provide the supply of alcohol to anybody, irrespective of age. As a result, more and more adolescent boys are getting involved in its use,” the study says. 

It however says it would be unfair to say that Army does it alone. “There are locals also involved in its transaction. People go there, get the desired quantity and sell it at their respective places to their customers.”

“The worst part is that some females who had no reliable source of income due to the death of their bread-earners, lapse of business due to ongoing turmoil in Valley or some other reasons have started to earn for their sustenance through the trade of the alcohol.” 

Regarding the drug abuse in the district, the study said, “About 45 percent of the district’s youth in the age group of 15-30 years are involved in drug abuse. Majority of the addicts are male, but females are also involved though not explicitly but personal interaction of the female researchers of this group have been able to unravel examples.” 

The study further said the areas of district which are prone to drug addiction are Bijbehara town, Achabal, Dupatyar, Harnag, Kandipora, Khanbal, Khodwin, Kulgam (Ranger Mohalla), Laktipora, Maiyan, Melhura, Sangam, Seepan Gur, Sirhama, Tulkan, Wopzan and Zurpora. 

The study has also castigated the police for doing little to curb the menace. 

Besides taking the local produce of Bang, Charas and Hashish, the adolescents also take pharmaceutical substances, injections (Fotwin, Avil), sedatives, barbiturates (sleeping pills), stimulants, and expectorants as a means to relax their psyche, the study added. 

The study has attributed the increase in the number of drug abuse cases to the local cultivation of the bhang, ganja and charas.  “The products cultivates are not only used by locals, but are also exported to various other places,” the study says, listing the factors responsible for drug addiction which include hopelessness, sense of insecurity, late marriages, broken relationships, family conflicts. 

The peer group responsible for drug addiction also includes media, easy accessibility, failures in life while as the economic factors were also held responsible for the drug trafficking. 
The study warns that if uncontrolled the addiction to drugs can lead to spread of HIV/AIDS among the users. 

“After getting indulged into drugs, these young people lead a meaningless life with no motives and goals as such. They often kill themselves thinking that they are not needed in this world,” the study said. 

According to the study concentrated efforts are needed to get the menace of drug abuse out of district Islamabad. “Through coordination and joint efforts the objective of freeing the younger generation from this quagmire could be achieved,” the study said. “There are no de-addiction centers available in the whole of district Islamabad. Nor does the District Hospital provide any support in terms of detoxification. Therefore, local infrastructure for de-addiction is needed in the district. In addition to up gradation of local infrastructure, doctors and other medical staff need to be trained in motivation and counseling techniques,” the study suggested. . 

The study further said “the non-local trucks bringing goods from outside the State need to be checked for trafficking of alcoholic materials. Some systems have to be there to curb their import of such materials.” 

“The Army/SOG camps involved in proliferation of these substances have to be held accountable too,” the study adds. 

PAMPORE FAMILY ALLEGES POLICE HARASSMENT

Threatens self-immolation; police denies
SRINAGAR, June 16: Irked by frequent harassment allegedly by police, a family of Pampore in south Kashmir’s Pulwama district has threatened self-immolation if action against the accused cops was not taken. 

“Police on Thursday sealed our house saying we support militants. About 50 cops in civvies ransacked the household items and stole the jewelry. We had to spend the night in a graveyard, we’ve nowhere to go”, Zoona, wife of late Ghulam Muhammad Charray of Kadalabal, Pampore told. Her daughters Gulshan, Simran, Posha, Arshida and son little son Javid were horrified and they broke down several times while narrating their ordeal. “When we went to Police Station, Pampore to lodge a complaint, a Deputy Superintendent Police (DSP) of Task Force hurled abuses on us. The Station House Officer (SHO) and other cops also passed indecent remarks on us. We had to leave to save our chastity,” Gulshan and her sisters alleged. 

Zoona said her husband died due to heart attack about nine years ago after some “influential persons” attacked their house. “We went to court and filed a case against them. Now as they sense defeat, they bribed the police officer, who from the last few months threatens us of dire consequences if we don’t withdraw case against them,” she said. 

“Police is implicating us. We are poor enough to resist…we will go for self-immolation to save our chastity if the guilty cops are not punished. We appeal to the Government to probe the matter and give us justice,” the sisters said. 

When contacted, SHO, Pampore refuted the allegations. 

“We haven’t sealed their house or harassed them. In fact, we rushed to the spot, when some persons attacked them. We provided security to the house for the whole night. An FIR under section 307 has been registered against the family for injuring a person from the other party”, the SHO told. 

He said a case has been also registered against the persons who attacked the house. 

FATHER CONCLUDES SEARCH FOR YOUNG SON MISSING SINCE 1997

Pens book in his memory

SRINAGAR, June 17:He wrote and dedicated a book to the memory of his disappeared son and thus concluded his search. The book was released a few days ago, on the eve of International Fathers’ Day. 

The book contains a detailed profile of his son, Fayaz Ahmad Beigh, a freelance producer/director who went missing after his arrest by Special Operations Group (SOG) on September 6, 1997. 

Fayaz’s father, Abdur Rashid Beigh, resident of Khajapora, Nowshera here thanks all the persons who helped him in his untiring search. However, he’s critical of a few persons who extorted money from him in the name of ascertaining his son’s whereabouts. 

Two persons from Nowpora locality, believed to be Central Bureau of Investigation (CBI) men, demanded Rs. 1 lakh Fayaz to his family. But the two men never turned up. One of them left the Valley for good.  for ensuring Fayaz’s homecoming. They demanded some money in advance, which was paid. A place and time for hand over of

Rashid states the reason for writing the book. 

 
“Every day I would confine myself in a corner to pen down my experiences. Then I decided to publish my experiences in the form of a book to convey to the parents of disappeared persons that they are not alone in their search.” 

However, while Rashid was busy preserving his valiant fight for the future generations, the person who arrested Fayaz and in whose custody he disappeared was inducted into Indian Police Service (IPS). “In this neglected land the guilty are punished with prized promotion,” said Rashid. 

9 NEPALI LABOURERS SHOT DEAD

SRINAGAR, June 12: Nine Nepali Muslim labourers were killed and five injured when suspected militants opened fire on them in south Kashmir district of Islamabad (Anantnag) on Monday afternoon.

The assailants appeared at Yaripora, Budroo village and opened indiscriminate fire on a group of labourers from Nepal state who were busy in erecting an electric tower.

The gunmen then shot at another group of labourers, also from Nepal, who were working in nearby kiln and paddy fields.

The local residents rushed out of their homes when they heard the shrieks of the labourers. 

Seven labourers were killed on the spot, reports said, adding the locals rushed the nine injured to a hospital where two succumbed.

Five critically wounded were shifted to Srinagar. There were conflicting reports about the incident.

Police said the gunmen fired at the labourers at Budroo village, killing six on the spot, injuring seven more. 
 
However, an injured labourer, Nayeem-ud-Din, son of Bashir-ud-Din said they were on work in Trenj Shopian (Pulwama district) when they were abducted and later shot at indiscriminately in an area they did not know about.

A camp of counterinsurgency Rashtriya Rifles troops is located one kilometer from the site of the massacre.

Troops did not allow anybody to enter the area after the massacre.

This was the fourth incident involving non-local labourers in the state. 

On August 8, 1998, 35 labourers were killed in Kalaban on Jammu-Himachal Pradesh border. Fifteen labourers were killed in Islamabad (Anantnag) district on June 30, 1999.

As many as 27 labourers were gunned down in Qazigund and Achabal areas of Islamabad (Anantnag) district on the night of August 1/2, 2000.
ANOTHER ANONYMOUS LETTER ADDS TWIST TO KOHLI’S SUICIDE

SRINAGAR, June 03: Another anonymous letter written by a Major of army to the family members of deceased Captain Sumit Kohli has added new dimensions to Captain's so called ‘suicide' and also to the custodial killings of four Jammu based porters at Dewar Village of Lolab in Kupwara district couple of years ago. This anonymous letter linked the so-called 'suicide' of Captain Sumit Kohli with the 'fake encounter' of the four Jammu based porters.

 
Ashwani Bhasin, uncle of deceased Captain said that the family members of Captain Sumit Kohli received an anonymous letter few days ago in which an army officer narrated his interaction with Captain Kohli during his journey from Jammu to Srinagar last month. The anonymous writer claiming himself to be an army major quoting the interaction during journey said that Captain Kohli feared of threat to his life as he was an eye-witness of several crimes committed by his colleague under the supervision of the Commanding Officer (CO) 18 Rashtriya Rifles (RR). Captain told him that some of his colleagues were involved in killing of four Jammu based porters in fake encounter at Lolab valley, misappropriation of Regimental funds, smuggling of timber after converting it into furniture. The CO of Unit, he said sent weapons along with ammunition Shahtoosh shawls, dry fruit, furniture, VCD’s, Rs 5 lakhs cash in a box made by RP section to senior army officers and spoke of his involvement in sex-trade (bringing of call girls to the unit), Bhasin quoting the letter said. 

 
This anonymous letter justified the claims of Captain Kohli's family who also disagreed with army's statement that Captain Kohli had committed suicide by shooting himself with his service weapon (AK-47 rifle) inside his quarter at Kupwara on April 30, 2006 afternoon at 1510 hours. Deepika Kohli, wife of the deceased Captain said that her husband was killed in a well knit conspiracy hatched by those involved in several crimes. "My husband was witness of many sins committed by his colleague including brutal killing of four Jammu based porters. He was a clean and noble man and could not see such things happening," she said adding that he was pressurized not to leak out all these things. 

 
Deepika said that her husband discussed all these things with her when he came to their Chandigarh residence in April last and also informed of harassment meted to him by his colleagues. "I never dreamt of harassment to the extent of his death," she said, adding, "It was wildest of dreams for me." It is next to impossible that my husband had committed suicide, she maintained. 

‘NO FOUL PLAY IN CAPTAIN KOHLI'S DEATH’: INDIAN ARMY

NEW DELHI, June 17: Indian Army today ruled out foul play in the death of gallantry award winner young Captain Sumit Kohli and said an inquest had found that the officer had committed suicide as he was facing "severe marital problems". Making public the Court of Inquiry report on the death of Kohli on April 30 this year while on duty with his unit engaged in anti-militancy operations in north Kashmir, Major Gen R S Sujlana, Additional Director Public Information said the inquest had revealed that the officer was on "psychotropic drugs and in deep depression had trained his personal assault rifle on himself". 

To suspicions voiced by Kohli’s wife and mother that his death was not natural as the young Captain was facing threats by some senior offers due to alleged fake killings, Sujlana said the charges of fake encounter by the Rashtriya Rifles battalion on April 20, 2004 was "unfounded" as per the findings of a separate Court of Inquiry. 

Sujlana said that when the encounter with militants had taken place, Captain Kohli was on leave and the young officer had also not been cited as a witness by the separate Court of Inquiry which had cross examined 43 witnesses including 20 civilians and police officials. 

"Court of Inquiry quoting post mortem reports said the most probable cause of death of the young officer was bullet wounds on his lower skull" he said adding that this pointed clearly that Kohli had shot himself. 

Sujlana said that framed photographs recovered from the search of personal belongings of Kohli had revealed a framed photograph of the Captain with his ex-fiancee. He said that even after seven months of marriage Kohli had not changed the names of nominees who would have got benefits in the event of his death. 

"We have come to the conclusion that the officer killed himself as he was facing serious marital problems", the Additional Director General Public Information said. 

Though the Captain won a Shaurya Chakra, the Army attributed his death as a physical casualty not attributable to Army service, halving his post death benefits. 

Kohli’s wife and mother thus would get 50 per cent of his due ex-gratia payment of Rs 10 lakhs, a pension of Rs 6,000 a month and gratuity amounting to 12 months pay.

ARMY ORDERS INQUIRY INTO WOMAN OFFICER’S ‘SUICIDE’

FAMILY FOR IMPARTIAL PROBE


JAMMU/BHOPAL, June 17: Army has ordered a high-level inquiry into the cause and circumstances, which led to the alleged suicide of Army Service Corps (ASC) Lt Sushmita Chakraborty at Northern Command headquarters in Udhampur on June 15. 

 
Denying any harassment at the workplace, Command Brigadier (Nagrota) K. K. Chopra told that it was a case of depression. He said a high-level inquiry has been ordered to find out the cause and circumstances, which led to the tragic incident. 

Sushmita Chakraborthy, daughter of P B Chakraborthy, was commissioned into the Indian Army in September 2005 and posted with 5071 ASC Battalion as platoon commander. She had allegedly committed suicide on June 15 afternoon in the guest room of officers mess by shooting herself from guard’s gun, which was taken by her on the pretext of carrying out training for young officers course. 

Brigadier Chopra said it was also revealed that the lady officer was depressed due to low self-esteem. She was provided counseling by a qualified psychiatrist for 15 days and subsequently granted 30 days of annual leave. While on leave, she requested for further extension of leave by 30 days, which was granted. She had resumed the unit on June 1 and was accompanied by her mother. 

Senior army official also furnished the reports of senior psychiatrist Col. Vijay Pandey, who had examined her during her bouts of depression. 

“I favour an inquiry by an independent agency into the episode. She desired to go ahead in life. Why would such a lady kill herself?” Sushmita’s elder paternal uncle S K Chakraborty told. 

CM JUSTIFIES TROOPS FIRING ON PROTESTERS

SAYS PEOPLE CAN’T TAKE LAW INTO THEIR HANDS
SRINAGAR, June 15: Justifying recent incidents of firing by troops on civilian protesters in Kupwara district, Chief Minister (CM) Ghulam Nabi Azad on Thursday said people “have no right to take law into their own hands by attacking Army posts and trying to set them ablaze.” 

Talking to reporters in Assembly premises here after casting his vote to elect Rajya Sabha member, Azad charged media of one-sided reportage of events and refused to buy recent statements of National Conference President, Omar Abdullah that it’s only in Kashmir that people are fired upon for raising protests. 

“It happens across the world”, Azad said, “When 10,000 people assemble outside Army post to set it ablaze, how should they be responded?” 

CONDITIONS OF DETENUES IS WORRYING: JAIL SUPERINTENDENT

June 21: Detenues and under trials lodged in central jail Srinagar are facing great inconvenience and are under deep stress which made them to indulge into drugs. The inconvenience is the result of overbooking of detenues. The jail has the capacity of accommodating 350 persons at one time whereas the number of detenues lodged is 480, which means 130 detenues over. 

As per the statement of the jail superintendent Dr. Mohammad Sultan despite greater interest taken by the relatives of the detenues, their relatives are lodged unnecessarily. The number of detenues is more than 130 to normal, which is much higher as per the jail space. The suffocation engulfed more than three-dozen inmates into multiple traumas and made them to take the support of drugs. There are detenues lodged for petty charges and lying there unnecessarily.  

Some of the detenues have become nuisance to their fellow inmates and have gone to the extent to vitiate the jail atmosphere. Among them most are booked under section 109. The overbooking also made it impossible to look after each and every detenue there. There are detenues who could be bailed out in hours, if their relatives take interest, the Superintendent said. 

The traumatic and stressed detenues who should be in the hospitals for treatment and counseling are too languishing in the jail, the Superintendent concludes.  

ATROCITIES ON WOMEN 

· HONOUR OUTRAGED: PEOPLE PROTEST

ISLAMABAD/ANANTNAG, June 10: People held massive protest demonstrations against the attempted molestation of a schoolgirl by a soldier in Hakoora, Islamabad (Anantnag) on June 8 morning. 

Reports said schoolchildren were on their way to school at 10 in the morning when troops of 36 RR stationed at Hakoora camp intercepted Rafia Rashid of 11th standard, daughter of Abdur Rashid Khan of Deerna, Hakoora and allegedly started molesting her in the name of frisking. Rafia fainted in fright and the news spread far and wide. 

People came out and, chanting slogans for freedom, lodged strong protests against the incident. 
The commanding officer of 36 RR also visited the area and apologized over the incident. 

“My head bows in shame,” he said. 

Police lodged an FIR at police station Dooru against the 36 RR. 

· CRPF TROOPER SHOOTS GIRL, WITH CAMERA

SRINAGAR, June 13: The clicking of photographs of a girl by a trooper of Central Reserve Police Force (CRPF) triggered violent demonstrations in central Kashmir district of Budgam on Tuesday. 

CRPF trooper began to click photographs of the girl with his mobile phone when she was waiting near the Beerwah bus stand. 

Immediately, after the incident shopkeepers downed their shutters and joined dozens of people who were demanding action against the trooper. Irked by the cold response of the policemen on duty there, the angry protesters attacked the police bunkers, razing them to ground. The policemen managed to flee from the spot. 

Later, the protesters, including students blocked the road and staged a sit-in. Police and civil officers pacified them assuring investigation.

CRPF spokesman Dilip Singh told, “no such incident took place.” 

“People are against the deployment of troops in the area that is why they make allegations against them. However, if a formal complaint is made to us we’ll look into the matter,” the CRPF spokesman said.

200 CHILDREN SHIFTED TO PUNE WERE NOT QUAKE-HIT
Court seeks explanation from Government
SRINAGAR, June 3: Following disclosure that over 200 children sent to Pune in December last year were not orphaned by the quake, the High Court has asked the State government to explain its position. 

 “On consideration of the matter, we find that 501 children have been sent to Bhartiya Jain Sangathan (BJS) at Pune. Out of these only 110 are earthquake victims. And 114 belong to Jammu. That leaves some over 200 children who were not affected by earthquake and still were sent to BJS,” observed the Division Bench comprising Chief Justice, Justice B.A. Khan and Justice Bashir Ahmad Kirmani after hearing arguments of Bar Association President Mian Abdul Qayoom and Advocate General of State Altaf Naik. 

 The Court held the controversy now revolves around those children who were not affected by earthquake and still have been send to Pune. The Court said State has to explain the circumstances by which it conducts their educational pursuits outside. The case will come up for hearing on June 5. 

In December last year, the Bar Association filed a Public Interest Litigation challenging government move to shift some 500 children reportedly affected by October 8 earthquake, to outside the State. 

 The Bar had questioned authority of the government to shift the children from Kashmir to Pune and had described it as violation of international convention of rights of the child. 
 
And when the case came up for hearing on December 28, 2005 the Bar Association had pleaded that it was not first time that Kashmiri children were being taken out of state. 
In 2003, the Bar said 200 children were taken to Pune and handed over to ‘Sarhad’ an NGO run by Sanjay Nehar. 

The Bar had described the shifting of children from Kashmir as “exploitation of children orphaned in the ongoing movement.” The Bar petition had said displacement, as form of rehabilitation was contradiction in terms and had cited veto of Maharashtra State Assembly on a move to relocate children of Latur earthquake in Pune. 

On that day, the Division Bench comprising Chief Justice, Justice B.A Khan and Justice Bashir Ahmad Kirmani had directed the State to furnish the credentials of the Sarhad and Bhartiya Jain Sangathan (BJS), whom the State has handed over the children. 

The state government later through an affidavit informed the Court that BJS is engaged in rehabilitation work of Latur earthquake and has also imparted education to the earthquake-hit children of Jabalpur. The government informed the court that 10 teachers and six officers of Social Welfare Department escorted these children and sufficient care of their wellbeing is taken. 

Meanwhile, on December 25, some 91 children out of 50 returned after feeling home sick. Out of 91 children, 74 were from Valley and 17 others hailed from Rajouri, Poonch and Doda. 

On March 1, 2006 the Court ordered stay on shifting of all these children who returned.

MILITANT KILLED IN FAKE ENCOUNTER

PAMPORE, June 20: Killing of a militant identified as Javaid Ahmad Mir allegedly in fake encounter by the troops in Pampore about 12 kilometers away from Srinagar city triggered massive protest. In protest, the shops and other business establishments remained closed. People also took to streets accusing the troops of killing Mir in fake encounter. They alleged Mir was picked up from Dalgate area of Srinagar city and killed him in Pampore.   

However, officials said, Mir, a Hizbul Mujahideen militant was killed in a gun battle with troops.

TOP HIZB COMMANDER KILLED

.In encounter: says Army; In custody: Hizb


SRINAGAR, June 7: Police on Wednesday said troops killed a divisional commander and chief coordinator of Hizbul Mujahideen, Mushtaq Ahmad Wani alias commander Khalid in an encounter at Tulkhan village of southern Islamabad (Anantnag) district on June 4 night. Hizb has however said that Mushtaq was arrested and then done to death in a fake gun battle

BODY PARTS OF 13 MAHORE VILLAGERS CHOPPED OFF

MAHORE, June 15: A 65-year-old man died and 13 others of Donga Neoch village of Mahore tehsil were wounded when a group of suspected militants chopped off their body parts on June 12 night. 

 
The wounded villagers said that seven to eight gunmen descended on Donga hamlet, about 40 kilometers from Mahore, and asked them to assemble in a field. The gunmen then chopped off different body parts of the villagers.

One of the villagers, whose nose and tongue was chopped off, died on the same night due to inadequate medical facilities at sub district hospital, Mahore where they were admitted after the incident. The deceased has been identified as Abdul Ahad, 65, son of Samdu Magria.

Police has blamed “unidentified militants” for the act. 


NOW, DETAINEE SHOT WITH CAMERA

SRINAGAR, June 16: The Jammu and Kashmir police has gone hi-tech but in a bizarre way. Before releasing a detainee in accordance with Court orders, it catches movements of detainee in video camera.

On Thursday, Additional Session Judge ordered release of a detainee Imtiyaz Ahmad Misgar, son of Abdus Salam Misgar, who was facing detention for last seven years in different jails. 

On Friday, when Imtiyaz was freed by Maharaj Gunj police station in downtown Srinagar, his family said, before his release he was captured in a video camera. 

 Even his conversation was recorded, they said. They said police visited their home and also recorded how was he received and by whom? “The cops later came after one hour asking about his whereabouts,” said a relative. When contacted an official of the police station feigned ignorance about the incident.

SEVEN DETENUES INJURED

LOCAL, FOREIGN ULTRAS CLASH IN KOT BHALWAL JAIL


JAMMU, June 27: At least seven detenues were wounded, two of them seriously in a group clash between the local and foreign ultras inside the highly guarded Kot Bhalwal jail last evening.

 
Official sources said that the clash took place in an ongoing turf war to establish supremacy in the jail premises.

Tension gripped the entire jail premises as it turned into a virtual war zone with local and foreign militants attacking each other freely without any intervention of the jail officials, sources said.

DODA STUDENT TORTURED

JAMMU, June 24: Riyaz Ahmad, a 12th class student was today admitted in District Hospital (DH), Doda when he was allegedly tortured by the troops of 8 Rashtriya Rifles (RR) camped at Doda. 

Riyaz Ahmad, son of Abdul Khaliq, was on way to Doda town from his village Neel this morning when he was intercepted the troops of 8 RR patrolling the area. RR troops asked Riyaz for arms and ammunition in the village, to which the youth expressed innocence. He was subjected to severe torture. 

The RR personnel left the youth in a pool of blood, who was later on shifted to DH, Doda for treatment by the villagers of Neel village. The family members have lodged an FIR at police station, Doda.

JOURNALIST AND HIS WIFE ASSAULTED BY COPS
SRINAGAR, June 10: Traffic policemen allegedly assaulted a senior journalist and his wife at Regal Chowk on June 10. 

The traffic cops stopped the vehicle of the videographer of Associated Press (AP) Mehrajuddin and asked him to show the car documents. 

The traffic policeman asked him unrelated questions and slapped him without any provocation. Seeing this, his wife disembarked from the vehicle, however, she was stopped by the traffic policemen who allegedly tore her clothes. Irked by the behavior of the traffic police, the pedestrians caught hold of the traffic policeman. In the meantime, other journalists reached the spot to inquire about the matter. But the police misled them saying the cop was critically wounded in the incident and succumbed to his injuries. 

The cop was resting in the Police Station Kothi Bagh and police spread the rumors of his death to divert the attention of the people.

TENANTS TO REPORT TO POLICE

SRINAGAR, June 23: Muhammad Muzamil (Bihari), a non-state subject, was shocked when he went to Soura Police Station to register a report about missing of his colleague. He was upbraided by police for not reporting to the police station when he arrived in the Valley. "Police told me it’s mandatory for every person whether he is state subject or non-state subject to file his antecedents with a police station before he puts up anywhere as tenant," Muzamil, who hails from Puriyana district of Bihar, said. He said he went to the police station to report about his colleague Rajabullah, 14, who went missing on June 1. He said Rajabullah had come to Kashmir first time and together they were putting up in a house at Nowshera, Srinagar. He said they were doing embroidery work. Police refused to file the report saying he has to first file a form in which he has to write all the details, Muzamil added.

MURDER DETENUE SHOT DEAD IN ESCAPE BID

JAMMU, June 30: A detenue was shot dead while trying to escape from police custody at Bassa morh, 5 kilometers from Tikri on Katra-Tikri road.

 
The deceased has been been identified as Mubarak Hussain, 35, son of Ghulam Mohammad of Tanda Pouri (Reasi).

 
He was detained in connection with his involvement in murder of Numberdar Pouni Prem Singh in 2004. He murdered numberdar on July 17, 2004 and was arrested twenty days after committing crime.

 
Official report said that he was lodged in District Jail, Udhampur and facing trial in the court of Additional Session Judge Reasi in case FIRs number 47 of 2004 under section 302 RPC and 82 of 2003 under section 4/27 Arms Act).

SUICIDES BY TROOPS 
· VDC MEMBER KILLS WIFE, COMMITS SUICIDE

June 13:  Sher Singh, a Village Defence Committee (VDC) member allegedly shot his wife dead at village Dhankote in Mahore tehsil of district Udhampur in the evening of June 13.Thereafter, he ended his life by jumping in a nallah (stream) next morning. 

 
Police said the incident is the outcome of some family dispute. It is pertinent to mention here that the weapon used by the VDC member was his official weapon.  The deceased woman was identified as Nimo Devi, 35, of Dhankote. 

· SOLDIER COMMITS SUICIDE

June 21: A constable of Bihar regiment ended his life by shooting himself with his official rifle late in the evening in Udhampur, Jammu. 


The deceased was identified as Sepoy Suraj Kumar of 12 C Battalion Bihar regiment. 

· SOLDIER KILLS SUBEDAR
BANDIPORA, June 29: An Army soldier shot dead a Subedar in Baramulla district. Reports said the soldier whose name was not immediately known shot dead Ranbir Singh after a brawl at Tragbaz, Gurez.

CRPF Orders Probe

SRINAGAR, June 29: The Inspector General (IG) of CRPF has ordered inquiry into the allegations against the officer and eight personnel for allegedly misbehaving with the mobile Magistrate in Islamabad (Anantnag) on June 24.

 
The mobile Magistrate was checking traffic in Islamabad during which the officer of 89 Battalion DSP, Satinder Singh stopped the magistrate from performing his duties. The mobile magistrate was checking a vehicle coming from outside state. The personnel also misbehaved with the magistrate. The personnel also raided the residence of Munsiff, Shangus and harassed the family members. The court later summoned IG administration S K Singh who in writing said that inquiry has been initiated against the accused. 

OFFICIAL STATEMENTS 

· 1 LAKH (1 HUNDRED THOUSAND) FOR MILITANT’S HEAD: BJP

JAMMU, June 8: Bharatiya Janta Party (BJP) on Thursday announced a financial package for those civilians who would kill militants or either lose their life while fighting the militants in Jammu and Kashmir. The party said, “This important decision was taken to awaken the government, which is in deep sleep.” 

Speaking on the second day of ‘Satyagarah’, former Delhi Chief Minister and BJP leader Sahib Singh Verma said that Government of Jammu and Kashmir failed to curb militancy. Verma announced Rs 1 lakh award for civilians who would kill militants and a compensation of Rs 2 lakhs for civilians who get killed while fighting militants. 

· CM CONDEMNS BOUNTY IDEA
Srinagar, June 9: Chief Minister Ghulam Nabi Azad on Friday lashed out at BJP for offering a bounty to anyone who kills a militant. Terming the offer of Rs. one lakh by BJP as "provocative, and unheard of", he said that it was the job of the security forces, not that of civilians, to fight militants.

· 'INFILTRATION CONTINUING'

OVER 1500 MILITANTS ACTIVE IN J&K: ARMY CHIEF
 TEETHWAL, Line of Control (LoC), June 22: Admitting an open secret of presence of militants in the state, Army Chief General JJ Singh today said about 1500-1600 militants were operating in Jammu and Kashmir while infiltration from across the border also continued unabated. 

· INDIA RULES OUT TROOP REDUCTION IN J&K 
NEW DELHI, June 25: India ruled out any reduction of troops in Jammu and Kashmir in the present situation, a day after Pakistan President Pervez Musharraf sought "demilitarisation" in the Jammu and Kashmir state. 

"With the present situation, I am not confident that we can reduce troops", Defence Minister Pranab Mukherjee told. 

 
He pointed out that reduction of troop strength at present was not possible as lately there has been an increase in terror incidents, involving attacks on soft targets and security forces. 

Infiltration and attempts at infiltration have also increased, Mukherjee said. 

 
Musharraf had yesterday said, "I have proposed demilitarisation as a final resolution. Demilitarise Kashmir; give self-governance to people of Kashmir with a joint management arrangement on top. This is an idea I am proposing".

· J&K DEATH COUNT SINCE 1989: 40,000

           SRINAGAR, June 27: Laying out figures that 40,000 persons including “over 13,000 civilians and 4,000 security force personnel” have got killed since 1989 when armed insurgency erupted in Kashmir, the Home Ministry has said that situation is “evolving positively”. However, the ministry is silent on the remaining 23,000 people, majority of whom are militants. 

 
The Home Ministry’s booklet titled “Initiatives for Peace and Development in Jammu and Kashmir,” says situation in the state has undergone a perceptible shift “since 2002 and onwards.” 

About the creation of Village Defence Committees, the Ministry says aim of the VDCs is to organise community for self-defence against the “menace of terrorism” and “supplement the ongoing efforts of security forces dealing with militancy.” 

The number of functioning VDCs in the state is 3,770 and sanctioned strength of SPOs is 23,200, the ministry says, adding so far it has reimbursed Rs 309.23 crores towards payment of honoraria to SPOs till 2005-06 since scheme inception in 1995. 


The Ministry of Home Affairs operates the Security Related Expenditure (SRE) scheme for “assisting the government of Jammu and Kashmir.” The total reimbursement under SRE on police during the period 1989-90 to 2005-06 is Rs 1925.10 crores and Rs 1393.40 crores. 

The Financial Assistance to the tune of Rs 273.13 crore has been extended for meeting the expenditure on elections related security, says the Ministry. 

The Ministry has also provided Rs 17.28 crores to the Himachal Pradesh government to “stop spillover” of militancy from the borders of Jammu and Kashmir into Himachal.

· NO NEED FOR MORE FORCES IN J&K: ARMY CHIEF

NEW DELHI, June 29: Army Chief General J.J. Singh today ruled out deployment of additional forces in Jammu and Kashmir, saying the present strength was enough to foil the increasing infiltration attempts by from across the border. 

 
‘’The increase in infiltration during the months of June, July and August is normal.... The Army has enough personnel to foil the attempts of infiltrators,” General Singh told. 

He said infiltration had reduced over the years with the number coming down from thousands a few years ago to about 300 in the past two years.

ALLEGED DISAPPEARANCE

· 1 PERSON KILLED, ANOTHER MISSING IN KANGAN

KANGAN, June 23: Panic gripped this town when a dead body was found tied with ropes in a nullah (stream) of Gonsi Mohalla, Kangan on June 23 morning. 

 
Sajad Ahmad Bhat, 10th class student, son of Abdul Majid Bhat of Gonsi Mohala Kangan was found dead as his body was tied with a tree in a nullah in Gonsi Mohala, Kangan. Sajad has been missing since Thursday evening. According to his relative, "Sajad was called upon by one Muzaffar (Sajad’s relative) at about 6pm on Thursday. Muzaffar took Sajad with him but both of them did not return back.

We were shocked to hear that Sajad has been killed and the whereabouts of Muzaffar are yet unknown”. 

Police has registered a case and are investigating.

NEWS IN BRIEF

· COPS ATTACHED
SRINAGAR, June 3: Sub Divisional Police Officer, Tangmarg has attached a Choki officer and his two guards for allegedly harassing the shopkeepers at Baba Reshi in Tangmarg area of Baramulla district.

The shopkeepers alleged that Imtiaz Ahmad and his guards Latif Ahmad and Muhammad Sidiq would harass the shopkeepers in the main market.
· 2 GOVERNMENT GUNMEN HELD FOR STEALING IDOL

SRINAGAR, June 4: Police has arrested two government gunmen for stealing a rare idol from an Anantnag (Islamabad) temple. Police arrested Khursheed Ahmad Lone of Hardtoor, Achabal and Sajad Ahmad Lone of Kotiheer after receiving a tip off that they had stolen a rare idol from a temple. The price of the idol is said to be lakhs of rupees in international market. Police has lodged a case and has launched investigations. 
· INJURED TOURIST SUCCUMBS
SRINAGAR, June 3: Suraj Dutta of Kolkata who was injured in a grenade explosion at Dalgate succumbed to his injuries at SMHS hospital. 

Meanwhile, police recovered a decomposed body from River Jehlum near Badami Bagh Army cantonment area.

· TWO PERSONS ARRESTED

SRINAGAR, June 2: Troops arrested Shabir Ahmad Pal, son of Ghulam Rasool of Aloora Shopian. Troops also arrested Muhammad Maqbool of Manloo Shopian. 

· CM’S SECURITY GUARD FOUND DEAD 

June 15: Dead body of a constable of Special Operation Group’s (SOG) was found hanged with a tree near his residence in Amaroh village of Ramnagar tehsil of district Udhampur.

The deceased has been identified as Balbir Singh, 35, son of Krishan singh of Amroh (Ramnagar). The said constable was on leave and was about to join his duty day after.   

· BEATING OF DRIVER BY BSF SPARKS PROTESTS
SRINAGAR, June 16: The beating of a driver allegedly by soldiers of Border Security Force (BSF) triggered massive demonstrations in Kupwara district. 

BSF troops were irked when a bus passed through a pothole, splashing the mud on one of the soldier. The soldiers ordered the driver of the bus Manzoor Ahmad Mir to stop the vehicle and severely thrashed him till blood started oozing from his body. 

He was rushed to Kupwara hospital wherefrom he was referred to Srinagar. Later the people and bus drivers staged demonstration against the troops, demanding action against them.

· FATHER OF KILLED YOUTH APPEALS CM

SRINAGAR, June 23: Father of a 25-year-old Kupwara labourer who was allegedly killed by government gunmen last year, has appealed to Chief Minister Ghulam Nabi Azad to order a probe into the matter. 

“My son Sajad Ahmad Mir was abducted by some government gunmen at the behest of his wife last year. Since then his whereabouts are not known. But I came to know that he was killed by the government gunmen,” aged Abdul Jabbar Mir of Lolabad Kupwara said. Jabbar says he approached many police officers at the helm but they could not locate his son’s body or arrest the accused. 

“As police is trying to shield the killers, I appeal Ghulam Nabi Azad to order a high-level probe into the matter to give me justice,” Jabbar said. 

· GUNMEN SLIT THROAT 

June 26: Unidentified gunmen killed Manzoor Ahmad Rather, son of Ghulam Rasool of Bandipora. Gunmen barged into the house of Manzoor at Arin and killed him by slitting his throat. 

· PATTAN PROTEST CONTINUES

SRINAGAR, June 26: Protests in Pattan in Baramulla district continued for third day against the killing of a student and a woman by CRPF troops on June 24.

 
Meanwhile, the protesters intercepted an ambulance carrying Khadija Begum, wife of Muhammad Sultan of Shah Mohalla, Sopore who was injured in a traffic mishap. The protesters did not let the ambulance to move to Srinagar. 
 
But, when they allowed the ambulance to go, Khadija was declared brought dead in SMHS hospital here in Srinagar.

· GOW KADAL PROTESTS

SRINAGAR, June 28: Shops in Maisuma and Gow Kadal here remained closed today against the arrest of a salesman from a shop on June 27. 

 
Reports said strike was observed against the arrest of Basharat Ahmad Sofi, son of Muhammad Siddiq of Nund Reshi Colony, Bemina who was picked up by Gypsy-borne gunmen. The local traders alleged that the gypsy car was not bearing any number and when they approached Maisuma police station to lodge a complaint, the police showed no interest.

· TROOPS HARASS VILLAGERS FOR PROTESTS
SOPORE, June 28: On June 26, the villagers of Watlab and its adjoining areas accused the troops of Rashtriya Rifles of harassing them for staging protests against the death of 22 students in Wullar lake. The villagers said the troops barged into their houses and “threatened them of dire consequences for staging protests against them and damaging their bunkers”. 

· TROOPS IN CIVVIES THRASH TRAL VILLAGERS

SRINAGAR, June 28: 50 RR troops in civvies barged into many houses and ruthlessly thrashed the inmates in a remote village of Tral, Pulwama district and misbehaved with the female folk, local residents of Tral area alleged. 

The residents alleged that it was a routine for the troopers to snap the power supply to the village and the barge into the houses and harass the inmates, especially the women. They said on June 27 evening, the RR personnel again barged into the houses and thrashed the inmates.

 Commenting over the issue, defense spokesperson said the troopers entered village Khangund, Tral following reports that "militants were hiding there." The soldiers, he said, conducted house-to-house searches. However, the spokesperson denied that soldiers harassed the villagers.

· TROOPS FORCE CLOSURE OF WINDOW PANES

June 30: The closing of windowpanes of private transport vehicles by troops in the scorching heat has evoked strong resentment from the people. 

 
A group of passengers said that troops force them to keep the windowpanes of vehicles closed from Sher-e-Kashmir Park to Civil Secretariat, causing inconvenience to them. "Many times kids fall unconscious due to suffocation in the vehicles in the rising temperatures," the passengers told. A group of drivers told that those who don’t obey the orders of the troops are severely thrashed.

· WATLAB PROTESTS FALLOUT

SRINAGAR, June 4: Troops are allegedly taking youth for enforced labour to construct bunkers in Watlab area in Baramulla district. Reports said troops pick up the people to construct bunkers to avenge massive protests by them in the area against the Wullar boat capsize tragedy that killed 22 schoolchildren along with their teacher. "Those who refuse to comply are threatened of dire consequences," local residents said. The residents told that the troops have also prepared a list of 22 youths who they claim are responsible for the burning of a navy picket in the area in the protests following the boat tragedy.

Public Relations Officer (PRO) Defence said, "No one is being forced to work for construction of bunkers in the area. The civilians are being employed for routine work in the security forces camp on daily wage basis".

KILLINGS IN THE MONTH JUNE 2006 

	Date
	Soldiers
	Militants
	Civilians
	Others

	June 01
	1
	5
	-
	1 released militant

	June 02
	-
	-
	1
	-

	June 03
	-
	1
	1
	-

	June 04
	1
	-
	1
	1 ex-serviceman

	June 05
	-
	8
	-
	-

	June 06
	-
	8
	-
	-

	June 07
	-
	1
	-
	-

	June 08
	1
	-
	-
	-

	June 09
	1
	-
	-
	-

	June 10
	-
	1
	1
	-

	June 11
	-
	1
	-
	-

	June 12
	2
	-
	9
	-

	June 13
	-
	5
	1
	-

	June 14
	-
	2
	2
	1 released militant

	June 15
	-
	2
	1
	-

	June 16
	-
	-
	3
	-

	June 17
	-
	2
	1
	1 renegade

	June 18
	-
	2
	-
	-

	June 19
	-
	2
	1
	-

	June 20
	-
	1
	1
	-

	June 21
	-
	1
	-
	1 political worker

	June 22
	-
	-
	2
	-

	June 23
	1
	2
	1
	-

	June 24
	1
	1
	3
	-

	June 25
	2
	5
	
	

	June 26
	-
	4
	1
	I political activist

	June 27
	3
	1
	2
	1 military informer & 3 dead bodies recovered

	June 28
	-
	-
	-
	-

	June 29
	-
	-
	-
	1 govt. gunman

	June 30
	1
	13
	3
	1 Numberdar

	Total
	14
	68
	35
	12 


	Date
	Custodial and Extra Judicial Killings 
	Women
	Children
	Alleged Disappearances 

	June 8
	-
	-
	-
	1

	June 07
	-
	1
	-
	-

	June 15
	-
	-
	-
	1

	June 16
	
	-
	-
	1

	June 20
	1 EJK
	-
	-
	-

	June 22
	-
	1
	-
	1

	June 24
	-
	1
	-
	-

	Total 
	1
	3
	0
	4


CHRONOLOGY OF INCIDENTS JUNE 2006

June 1: Five militants, a BSF personnel and a released militant were killed in separate violence related incidents across the state.

June 2: A civilian was killed in a violence related incident across the state.

June 3: A Hizb commander and a civilian were killed in different violence related incident across the state.

June 4: A soldier, a former soldier and a civilian were killed in separate violence related incidents across the state.

June 5: Eight infiltrating militants were killed by troops in J&K.

June 6: Eight militants were killed in a violence related incident across the state.  

June 7: A District Commander of Hizbul-Mujahidin was killed in a violence related incident across the state.

June 8: An army personnel was killed in a violence related incident across the state.

June 9: A soldier of three grenadiers was killed in a violence related incident across the valley.

June 10: A civilian and a militant were killed in different violence related incidents across the valley.

June 11: One civilian died in a grenade explosion in Jammu. 

June 12: Nine civilians including eight Nepali labourers and two police cops were killed in separate violence related incident across the state.

June 13: Five militants and a civilian were killed in different violence related incidents across the state.

June 14: Two militants, two civilians and a released militant were killed in different violence related incidents across the state.

June 15: Two civilians and a militant were killed in separate violence related incidents across the state.

June 16: Three civilians were killed in different violence related incidents across the state.

June 17: Two militants, a civilian and a former renegade chief were killed in different violence related incidents across the valley.

June 18: Two militants were killed in separate encounters across the valley.

June 19: Two militants and a civilian were killed in separate violence related incidents across the state.

June 20: A militant and civilian were killed in different violence related incidents across the valley.

June 21: A deputy district commander of Hizbul-Mujahidin and a CPI (M) worker were killed in different violence related incidents across the state.

June 22: Two civilians including a woman were killed in a violence related incidents across the state.

June 23: Two militants, a civilian and a police constable were killed in separate violence related incidents across the state.

June 24: 1 HM militant, 1 Army Captain, three civilians including woman and a student were killed in various incidents across the state.

June 25: Five militants, a CRPF trooper and a police cop were killed in separate violence related incidents across the state.

June 26: Four militants, one politician, and a civilian were killed in separate incidents across the state.

June 27: Two civilians, a military informer, an SPO, two troopers and one militant were killed in separate incidents of violence. Meanwhile, three dead bodies were recovered from three separate places across the state. One of them was identified as Mohammad Rafiq Hajam, son of Ghulam Qadir of Wathroora, Budgam of central Kashmir. 

June 28: No incident of killing reported.  

June 29: A government gunman was killed in a violence related incident across the valley. 

June 30: Thirteen militants including 1LeT, 1 Al- Mansurain and 1 HUJI, a Numberdar, a Lt. Colonel and three civilians were killed in separate incidents of violence across the state. 




WE DON’T PROMOTE ALCOHOLISM: INDIAN ARMY


SRINAGAR, June 27: Reacting to Action Aid report, an Army spokesman said  that "opium, drugs and liquor were introduced into the Valley by the Afghan militants in the early years of insurgency. This malice has spread to all parts of the valley and in fact in some areas opium is also being cultivated." "Hence to point fingers at the army is incorrect. No army unit in the valley is selling liquor to any unauthorized person. The observation of the NGO that such goods might be coming from outside the state needs to be further investigated," the spokesman added.








After the passage of 7 years, the government sanctioned an ex-gratia of Rupees 1 lac and provided compassionate employment in favour of his son. The family was residing below the poverty line, as after the arrest of Nazir, Atiqa’s in-laws disowned her. She then started to reside with her father at her maternal home with two sons and two daughters. The elder son was appointed in the electrical department on the compassionate employment case. In the year 2001, Abdul Ahad, father of Atiqa breathed his last.
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GOVERNMENT CLARIFICATION ON CM STATEMENT


SRINAGAR, June 17: A government spokesman on Saturday clarified that on June 15 while replying queries from media persons regarding Kupwara firing incident, the Chief Minister, Ghulam Nabi Azad had “very specifically said that government is against firing on civilian whether by police or security forces.”


“He (Azad) at the same time added that whenever people face any such problem they should bring their grievances into the notice of district authorities without taking the law and order in their hands to avoid any confrontation between public and security forces”, the spokesman said.


He said the state government has “always taken cognizance of any complaint on account of human rights violation made against police and security forces and has gone to the extent of ordering judicial inquiries.”








Jammu and Kashmir Police and families of the two Kashmiri youth killed in Gujarat on 17th March have denied their involvement in militancy and strongly refuted the claims of Gujarat police. Inspector General of Police (IGP) Kashmir, K. Rajendra Kumar said that the two youth killed in the “encounter” in Gujarat had no records of their involvement in militancy.





                                                      NEPALESE OFFICIAL ARRIVES IN VALLEY


KATHMANDU, June 18: The Nepalese government has sent a counsellor at the Nepalese Embassy in New Delhi to Srinagar to find out the details of the murder of Nepalese labourers in Kashmir. 


 	According to the Foreign Ministry, Deepak Shrestha, the embassy official, will also collect the ashes and photographs of the deceased from the police authorities concerned in Jammu and Kashmir. 


He will also meet four other Nepalese, who were injured in the shooting, according to a release issued by the Ministry. 
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